

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Faculty and Administrator Perceptions of the Attrition of Female Expatriate ESL Teachers' in Saudi Arabia

Salisha Bhola Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Salisha Bhola

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Stacy Wahl, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Thomas Hadley, Committee Member, Education Faculty
Dr. Beate Baltes, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Faculty and Administrator Perceptions of the Attrition of Female Expatriate ESL Teachers' in Saudi Arabia

by

Salisha Bhola

MA, Phillips Graduate Institute, 2005

BA, California State University Northridge, 2000

Proposal Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

September 2019

Abstract

Colleges in Saudi Arabia require students to take content classes in English. As the number of English learners in Riyadh continues to grow, it is important to retain quality English as Second Language (ESL) teachers. The problem investigated in this study was the high attrition of female expatriates teaching ESL at an all-female university. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore teacher and administrators' perceptions about the attrition of female expatriate ESL teachers at the university. The conceptual framework was Herzberg's motivation-hygiene theory, which focuses on influences that motivate or demotivate employees. The research questions explored why female ESL instructors leave their teaching positions. Data were collected through SKYPE interviews with 4 ESL experienced instructors, 4 ESL novice instructors, and 4 ESL program administrators. The data were analyzed for emerging themes using an open coding process. Three themes emerged from the analysis: poor long-term planning, lack of employee recognition, and lack of leadership professionalism. These findings were used to develop a 3-day professional development workshop for human resource representatives, university administrators, deans, and ESL instructors. The workshop promoted the collaboration of key stakeholders to develop strategies aimed at reducing teacher attrition through improved long-term planning, the implementation of incentives to recognize exemplary professional practice through the development of a faculty council, and interventions and training to improve leadership styles. This study was expected to contribute to positive social change by offering university administrators an opportunity to decrease ESL teacher attrition and increase teacher satisfaction which, in turn, may positively influence students' achievement of their educational goals.

Faculty and Administrator Perceptions of the Attrition of Female Expatriate ESL Teachers' in Saudi Arabia

by

Salisha Bhola

MA, Phillips Graduate Institute, 2005

BA, California State University Northridge, 2000

Proposal Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

September 2019

Dedication

I certainly could not have gotten through this endeavor without emotional support. Mom, you are the one person who has always believed in me, always pushed and supported me even when I thought this is not meant for me. You once told me that things will come and go, but my education can never be taken away. You experience my ups when I tell you and my downs even when I chose to do it alone. Mom you are an amazing human being and this is for you. Dad you have always provided me with sound advice be it personal or professional, you have guided me throughout my life. Thank you both for paving the way for me to do this by providing me with a life that I am grateful for. Farrah, you are my one and only cheerleader. Thank you for always celebrating my achievements, when I chose to ignore them. Thank you for helping me to remember that I did work hard for this, but most of all, thank you for just being such a wonderful sister. I love you. Shereen, you have never doubted me, you always remind me of who I am and who I will be. Your love has been unconditional and one that is irreplaceable.

Sera, you are the friend that I can count on. When we were close by you encouraged me, when we were continents apart you still made sure that I did not lose hope. We have grown up together in many ways and your friendship is one that I will always value. Thalia, you were my family for such a long time. You went through all my ups and helped me get through my downs by simply making me laugh.

Acknowledgments

Dr. Haila you are the first person that took a chance on me, and never looked back. I would not have dreamt of pursuing this if it were not for the valuable lessons that I learned both from working for you and learning from you. Dr. Haya, I will be always be grateful for the one piece of advice you gave me that I always remembered when I wanted to give up. You said that if I did not hate this every day, then I was not working hard enough. To both of you I will always be grateful.

Dr. Hadley, you were there from the beginning and circled right back to see me through to the end, thank you. Thank you for working with me and believing in this study. Dr. Wahl, I will never forget our first conversation. You chose me to be part of your cohort based on my study and you have provided me with support and helped me learn how to tell a story better than I ever thought I could. More than anything, Dr. Wahl you were as determined as I was to see this through to the end.

Table of Contents

Section 1: The Problem	1
The Local Problem	1
Rationale	3
Definition of Terms	5
Significance of the Study	6
Research Questions	7
Review of the Literature	7
Implications	24
Summary	25
Section 2: The Methodology	27
Research Design and Approach	27
Data Analysis Results	35
Section 3: The Project	47
Introduction	47
Rationale	47
Review of the Literature	48
Project Description	53
Project Evaluation Plan	56
Project Implications	56
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	58
Project Strengths and Limitations	58

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	60
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	61
Reflection on Importance of the Work	65
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	66
Conclusion	68
References	69
Appendix A: Professional Development Project	103
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	121
Appendix C: Research Questions.	122
Appendix D: Letter to University.	123
Appendix E: Participant Invitation and Consent Form	124
Appendix F – Interview Guide (Faculty).	126
Appendix G: Interview guide (Administrators)	127
Appendix H: Interview guide (Novice).	128

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

Qualified instructors are vital to the achievement of institutional goals. The loss of skilled language instructors may have unfavorable effects on student outcomes and negatively impact instructors who remain. Thaden, Jacobs-Priebe and Evans (2010), and Diaz-Rico and Smith (1994) found that the need for qualified instructors who are prepared to teach English as a Second Language (ESL) is a significant challenge. The problem investigated by this study was the high attrition of female expatriates teaching ESL at Saudi Girls University (SGU). At SGU, ESL teachers resigned due to poor leadership, lack of long-term academic planning, and lack of recognition and incentives. From 2014-2018, SGU hired 30 ESL instructors but only 18 of them stayed for longer than a year (Human Resource Representative, personal communication, November 19, 2018). Shrinivas, Harrison, Shaffer, and Luk (2005), and Sadeghi and Sa'adatpourvahid (2016) proposed in their studies of novice ESL instructors, that they face high levels of psychological discomfort. They are adjusting to a new country, they are new faculty who do not know their students, they may be unfamiliar with the new environment, and they need to adapt to unfamiliar administrative policies.

At SGU an all-female staff persistently works through concerns on how to retain qualified ESL instructors. Teaching ESL students is demanding and requires energy, enthusiasm, and knowledge. Instructors at SGU are required to have a Certificate in English Language Teaching to Adults (CELTA) in addition to a degree in either English or education to instruct ESL classes (*Policy for Hiring Standards at SGU*, 2016). Before

this CELTA requirement, many institutions in Saudi Arabia accepted either Teaching English as a Second Language (TESOL) or Teaching English as Foreign Language (TEFL) online certificates. The need to retain experienced and qualified instructors is a challenge for leaders managing colleges in Saudi Arabia (Deputy Director, personal communication, January 26, 2016).

Samuel and Chipunxa (2013) affirmed that many organizational managers in the Middle East are challenged to retain qualified employees. The Dubai School Inspection Bureau conducted a research study at 136 schools from October 2010 to April 2011. The Bureau works in conjunction with the Knowledge and Human Development Authority (Dubai Inspection Bureau, 2011) and is tasked with establishing and maintaining quality standards. The Bureau discovered that nearly 60% of the instructors departed employment early from the various institutions (Dubai Inspection Bureau, 2011) According to Karam, Director of the Knowledge and Human Development Authority, stakeholders in Dubai need to understand the cause of turnover and examine ways to prevent the attrition of faculty (Dubai Inspection Bureau, 2011). Kamel (2014) stated that the quality of education is deteriorating due to a lack of qualified instructors in the Middle East.

Description of the Local Problem

As reported by Garcia (2015) data on faculty turnover in Saudi Arabia are not available because many institutions do not publish information on the attrition of teaching faculty, nor are exit interviews a common occurrence. Based on personal communication

with a human resource representative at SGU (November 19, 2018), for the years 2014 – 2018, the one-year attrition rate at SGU averaged 60%.

Academic administrators in the English Skills Department at SGU were not informed of the reasons why many ESL instructors resigned from their teaching positions before their terms of appointment concluded (Academic Manager, personal communication, January 29, 2016). Instructors who resigned in 2015 - 2016 at SGU were not asked to complete exit interviews nor to provide a reason for their departure. It is not common practice for universities in Riyadh to conduct exit interviews. Saudi institutions need to be informed of the challenges ESL instructors face for the purpose of designing policies aimed at retaining quality ESL teachers (Consultant to the English Language Program, personal communication November 12, 2017). In a study conducted by Habhab and Smith (2014), the Ministry of Higher Education suggested that the retention of foreign employees remains a major challenge for higher education institutions in Saudi Arabia.

Rationale

Employees are important to any organization and should be supported to facilitate growth and development (Islam, 2013). According to Habhab and Smith (2014), it has not been established why faculty in the Middle East leave their professional appointments. It is important for policy makers and stakeholders to develop strategies to retain qualified and effective teachers. The Dean at SGU was concerned about ESL teacher attrition and wanted to improve retention rates within the program (Academic Dean, personal communication, April 15, 2017). By conducting a qualitative study to

explore why ESL instructors leave, I provided data related to teacher attrition in the Middle East and informed retention interventions aimed to increase ESL instructors' job retention rate and job satisfaction.

The more teacher support SGU can offer, the less likely it is that ESL instructors will leave due to high levels of job dissatisfaction (Consultant to the English Language Program, personal communication, November 15, 2017). While factors such as motivation, salary, and incentive could positively influence teachers' satisfaction, and lead to improved performance (Tehseen & Hadi, 2015), Habhab and Smith (2014) indicated that a key source of employee turnover in Saudi organizations was the lack of recognition. As higher education institutions continue to grow and expand in Saudi Arabia, so does the need for developing strategies in human resource knowledge and skills (Ministry of Education, 2010).

Brittiler and Thabet (2015) conducted a study at a health college in Saudi Arabia to determine predictors of job retention. They concluded that extrinsic factors, such as company policies and managerial support, work values, and meaningful use of time at work, ranked high for instructor retention. It is important for all Saudi academic institutions to positively address faculty turnover (Albaqami, 2016). The hiring and retention of qualified ESL instructors in a competitive environment requires not only offering competitive salaries, but also appealing working conditions (PMU, 2013). There remains an urgent need to retain qualified ESL instructors to fulfill the country's long-term education plans (MOE, 2010). Understanding ESL teacher attrition perspectives from novice and experienced teachers, as well as from administrators, will inform

interventions to address positive social change and improve the retention of skilled instructors. Thus the purpose of this study was to explore teachers' and administrators' perceptions about female expatriate ESL teachers' attrition at SGU.

Definition of Terms

The following terms were used throughout the document:

Demotivation: External forces that reduce motivation based on behavioral aspects (Dornyei, 2001).

Experienced teacher: A teacher who has taught for several years, is capable of motivating students, and take advantage of unforeseen opportunities to enhance learning (Rodriguez & McKay, 2010).

Job satisfaction: An emotional reaction that produces "a pleasurable or positive state resulting from one's job or job experiences" (Locke, 1976, p. 1297).

Novice teacher: A teacher with less than two years of teaching experience and whose teaching focuses on establishing basic classroom routines (Sherin & Drake, 2000).

Teacher attrition: A reduction or decrease in the number of teachers, because they leave the profession (Scheopner, 2010).

Teacher motivation: The internal and external factor that stimulate energy in teaching to be continuously interested and committed to make their best effort to support learning goals (Richardson, 2014).

Teacher retention: A teachers' persistence to stay at an institution (Henry, Bastian, & Fortner, 2011).

Significance of the Study

This study sought to understand why one Saudi institution was not able to retain female expatriate ESL teachers. High faculty turnover has detrimental effects on the ESL program at SGU, including a disturbance in instructors, increasing costs of faculty replacement, and negative student outcomes (AlKhatani, 2015). Policymakers, such as deans, heads of departments, and academic managers at SGU, acknowledged the need to identify reasons that contribute to ESL faculty attrition (Academic Dean, personal communication, December 5, 2015). Once key stakeholders and decision-makers are informed of the results of my study, resources may be dedicated to recruiting and hiring new teachers. ESL students develop a relationship or connection with their instructors, and when that instructor leaves prior to the semester's end, not only do students and the new instructor have to develop a new trusting relationship, but students have to adapt to a new teaching methodology. This may have negative outcomes on student performance as indicated by academic performance (Academic Director, personal communication, January 12,2016). Policymakers view proficiency in the English language as not only a progressive tool, but desirable for Saudi Arabia (Al-Seghayer, 2014).

Contribution to the Local Setting

Preventing faculty turnover can only be understood by examining the intent to leave from the perspective of stakeholders (Alshanbri et al., 2015). My study explored the problem of ESL teacher attrition from the perspectives of both novice and experienced teachers, as well as from the administrators, from one school. Decreasing the attrition rate of qualified ESL instructors has implications for positive social change: It can improve

student outcomes through consistent and trusting student-teacher relationships at SGU.

The results from this study will provide stakeholders of the ESL program with a better understanding of factors that may reduce attrition of ESL instructors, increase ESL instructor retention, and ultimately lead to improved learning outcomes for ESL students.

Research Questions

The purpose of this study was to explore teacher and administrators' perceptions about the attrition of female expatriate ESL teachers at SGU. The institution implements rigorous recruitment strategies throughout the year to ensure that qualified ESL instructors are hired (SGU *Policy for Hiring Standards*, 2016), but these efforts have not resulted in decreased attrition levels. The guiding research questions were as follows:

- 1. What are novice ESL instructor's perceptions for why there is high attrition at SGU?
- 2. What are experienced ESL instructor's perceptions for why there is high attrition at SGU?
- 3. What are ESL administrator's perceptions for why there is high attrition at SGU?

Review of the Literature

Given the complexity of the issue, it is difficult to identify one reason for faculty attrition. Several factors may contribute to retaining faculty, including strong and efficient leadership, a more encouraging work environment, and affording instructors some degree of professional control (Marinell & Coca, 2013). Issues such as recruitment and retention strategies, motivation, employee satisfaction, communication and

compensation are addressed in the literature review. I conducted a review of literature on studies related to motivation, job satisfaction, and leadership styles using the following phrases: retention in the Middle East, job satisfaction in the Middle East, leadership and higher education in the Middle East, motivation and teaching in the Middle East, and ESL studies in Saudi Arabia. I used the following databases—Education Research Complete, ERIC, ProQuest Central and Education from SAGE databases—for articles related to ESL retention, with priority given to studies published recently. Dividing the review of literature into two sections: The first section discusses the theory that frames the study, and the second section outlines and synthesizes the current literature that guides research related to faculty attrition.

Conceptual Framework

What motivates and demotivates individuals has been widely investigated through the framework of motivational theory. Herzberg's motivation/hygiene theory (Herzberg, Mausner, & Snyderman, 1959) will guide this study. Herzberg referred to factors that produce satisfaction as *motivators* and those that do not produce satisfaction as *hygiene factors*. Akin to Maslow's theory of hierarchy of needs (Herzberg, Mausner, & Snyderman, 1959) Herzberg created factors as physiological needs, which addressed the need to avoid unpleasantness and the psychological needs for personal development. This placed job satisfaction into two categories; hygienic and motivational (Herzberg, Mausner, & Snyderman, 1959). Herzberg concluded that when motivators are present, employees perform better, and job satisfaction is increased. However, when motivators are absent, this leads to dissatisfaction (Herzberg, 1987). Herzberg developed his factors

as physiological needs, which address the need to avoid unpleasantness, and psychological needs, which relate to personal development.

The two-factor theory distinguishes between motivators and hygiene factors. Motivators include involvement in decision-making, a sense of importance to the organization, responsibility, achievement, and the work itself (Herzberg, 1987). Hygiene factors, or maintenance factors, lead employees to dissatisfaction and include inadequate organizational policies, management styles, salaries, and job security (Herzberg, 1987). Herzberg concluded that hygiene factors are required for employees to maintain a reasonable amount of satisfaction or dissatisfaction with their position but to be extremely satisfied; employees need the motivating factors addressed (Baah, 2011). To motivate teachers, one must be aware of what their needs are, and then create policies that can address those needs (Giertz, 2016). Motivational factors such as achievement, recognition, personal growth, and challenging work lead to greater satisfaction in the workplace, which contributes to student success (Herzberg, 1987).

Herzberg's (1987) model proposed that factors contributing to student satisfaction and success are inclined to be personal motivators. Bolman and Deal (2013) described Herzberg's first component, motivational factors, as good feelings and factors that enrich performance achievement, personal growth, and involvement in decision-making. Teachers who genuinely rate student success as an accomplishment generate these motivators. When instructors' needs are satisfied teachers create a climate conducive for learning (Tambunan, Hamied, & Sundayana, 2016). However, if instructors are dissatisfied with the work environment, morale is likely to be lower, which can adversely

affect the way instructors interact with students and administrators. Bolman and Deal (2013) referred to Herzberg's second component of hygiene as bad feelings and nonmotivators. These nonmotivational factors focus on organizational policy, administration, and salary. According to Herzberg (1987) job enrichment is a key component in motivating and challenging employees. In an educational context, instructors' job satisfactions are linked to their role within the school (Lawler, 1973). Teachers are motivated by intrinsic factors, such as self-respect, responsibility and a feeling of accomplishment (Iliya & Ifeoma, 2015). The relationship may be positive if the instructors' desire to teach (motivators) balances with what they expect from the role (hygiene). Ho and Au (2006) supported this theory and maintained that teachers' satisfaction is a combination of what they need from within the school and what they can gain from it. When teachers face multiple disparities between wants and the reality of the job, the more likely it will result in job dissatisfaction (Trace, 2016). Aligned to my study, Herzberg's two-factor theory proposes that a specific set of requirements must be met to reduce turnover and create a more stable working environment.

Factors Contributing to Growth and Development

Vital to the success of any programs are competent, skilled, and committed faculty whose efficiency influences student productivity and institutional effectiveness (Blazer & Kraft, 2017, 146-170). Teachers are imperative to the educational growth of society; their satisfaction is dependent on the support and gratification they receive (Okwaraji & Aguwa, 2014). As suggested by Surbhi (2013), institutions cannot ensure sustainability and quality without qualified and committed faculty and academic staff.

Larking, Brantley-Dias, and Lokey-Vaga (2016) found that teachers who have higher levels of job satisfaction will have a higher commitment to the profession and are less likely to leave. To guard against the high rate of employee turnover, organizations should hire the right caliber of people, provide professional development to enhance employee performance, and recognize employee accomplishments and reward them accordingly (Kwegyir-Aggrey, 2016). Faculty members in the educational system are considered valuable human capital and are vital to the university's team. Figueroa (2015) examined how higher education institutions have accepted turnover of faculty as a cultural norm. He noted that higher education institutions are responsible for producing a skillful workforce and teaching best practices. However, those ideals are not being put into practice. His findings concluded that faculty leave due to heavy workloads, work conflicts, and poor communication with management.

Gupta and Gehlawat (2013) and Sharma and Jyoti (2009), found that teachers' job satisfaction provides growth and development of the educational system. Eyupogly and Saher (2009) reported that greater job satisfaction among instructors is positively linked with accomplishing goals in education. Akhtar, Hashmi and Naqvi (2010) found that teachers' job satisfaction was not only linked to performance, but also to their commitment and motivation. Administrators should take appropriate measures to increase job satisfaction (Hurren, 2006) as a lack of administrative support could lead to job dissatisfaction and turnover (Trace, 2016). University management should improve their behaviors and attitudes towards faculty and the opinions they may have (Al-Hussami, Saleh, Abdalkader, & Mahadeen, 2011), and management is responsible for the

educational setting to include communicating effectively and listening actively (Ezzeldin, & Nisar, 2017). Purohit (2016) indicated that organizations hire two types of employees; those that can offer and have the potential to grow, and others who represent filled positions to the organization. When a skilled instructor leaves, the university stands to lose more than when an unskilled instructor departs.

Retention. Retention is a concern for all educational organizations (Akhtar, Aamir, Khursid, Abro, & Hussain, 2015) and Perrachione, Rosser and Peterson (2008), noted that job satisfaction in the field of education can be linked to three outcomes: retention, attrition, and absenteeism. Avoidable and unavoidable turnover has been described as an organizational factor that can be prevented through more efficient and effective recruiting (Luecke, 2002). A system of total rewards cannot be successful unless an institution understands the needs, expectations and values of its employees (Alhmoud & Rjoub, 2019). Chew and Chan (2008) argued the two most significant organizational issues managers encounter are eliciting commitment and retention of employees. Employee retention strategies cannot be overemphasized. The lack of a retention strategy makes it difficult for leadership to identify approaches to retain qualified ESL instructors (Vidyasagar & Babu, 2016). Armstrong (2009) highlighted key factors in retaining employees. He suggested providing career progression, making supervisors accountable and responsible for turnover within their teams, and ensuring employees have a voice. Given the role that attrition has in declining shortages, policymakers are shifting resources, rethinking practices and enacting policies to attract and retain qualified instructors (Retention, 2017).

Several researchers (Bogler, 2002; DeNobile & McCormick, 2008; Roos & Eden, 2008; Naseem & Salman, 2015) reported that teachers' job satisfaction could affect retention. DeStefano (2002) suggested that further research should be conducted to examine teachers' job satisfaction from a human resource perspective, as it may enable institutions to improve their retention rates. Naseem and Salman (2015) conducted a study on 110 teachers in Pakistan and found that faculty relationships with supervisors, as well as sense of job security, correlate to job satisfaction. Okeke and Mtyuda (2017) concluded that teacher retention can almost be guaranteed if the setting is conducive to job security, has adequate teaching resources, and offers competitive financial incentives. Apart from transferring knowledge, teachers are motivators and facilitators, they manage student data and have administrative tasks that require their attention, which may compete with being able to provide quality teaching (Taharim, Jayasuriya, Xiang, & Mazhar, 2017).

Improving job satisfaction requires insight on the characteristics that contribute to satisfaction (Iwu, Ezeudugi, Iwu, Ikebuaku, & Tengeh, 2018). Employees are crucial to the success of any organization. Therefore, it is important that organizations establish relationships with staff. This includes recognizing employees' intentions to leave and having preventative methods in place that forecast causes, improving attrition levels (Albaqami, 2016).

Human resources. Allui and Sahni (2016) studied the effects of strategic human resource management in higher education. They found that the effective use of human resource in a labor-intensive industry, such as higher education, has become critical. Therefore, the need for improved human resource management in higher education is a

fundamental element that needs change due to the increasing demand for accountability in university administration (Allui & Sahni, 2016). Iqbal (2010) found that employee turnover was a significant challenge that human resource directors and employers face in fast rising economies such as Saudi Arabia. In an organizational specific culture, such as Saudi Arabia, it is uncommon to change the existing status quo.

Zopiatis, Constanti, and Theocharous (2014) explained that turnover during a time of globalization is becoming a growing concern among all organizations, regardless of what type of institution it is. As a result, human resource experts are continuously working on resolving the problem by providing more training courses, more incentives, and by increasing motivation to increase organizational commitment. Retention and human resource are important elements to consider, especially when organizations lose key employees. Aladwan, Bhanugopan, and D'Netto, (2015) highlighted the importance of retaining human capital and found. 80% of business experts believe that human resource issues are more important now than they were three years ago.

Workplace dissatisfaction. ESL instructors leave institutions due to being underpaid, overworked, and having to work in difficult situations that they cannot cope with (Hanneman, 2014). Most turnover is not inevitable and can be linked to dissatisfaction with administration and management (Mosadeghrad & Yarmohammadian, 2006). When it comes to leaving a job, an employee either leaves voluntarily or involuntarily. In either case it leads to adverse effects on the organization and it is the responsibility of the organization to reduce turnover intention (Imran, Allil, & Mahmoud, 2017). Carver-Thomas and Darling–Hammond (2017) found that new teachers who

received high quality mentoring to help them be successful in their first years of teaching and who received both administrative and collegial support in their efforts to foster creativity are more likely to remain in their positions.

Rosser and Townsend (2006) concluded higher education institutions need to understand the factors that lead to turnover in order to retain quality instructors. In higher education it is not uncommon for management to have misunderstandings with staff, which is often the result of ineffective communication (Onwuka, Oforegbu, Dibua, & Ezeanyim, 2017). Employees appreciate a workplace where communication is transparent, management is accessible, and where they are recognized for their efforts (Al-Mamun & Hassan, 2017). There is no conventional model to understand turnover and a variety of factoring is applied to evaluate the causes of employee turnover. Ingersoll and Smith (2003) found that poor working conditions such as an absence of administrative support, student control issues, and lack of teacher autonomy are some of the reasons that teachers leave their jobs.

Diaz-Rico and Smith (1994), and Diaz and Mahadevan (2011) agreed on the value and investment the institution must be vigilant about. For students to perform well on proficiency exams, the institution must provide instructors with the opportunity to receive ongoing professional development. Blumenthal (2002) and Johnston (1997) claimed that employment and training are rated high as professional concerns. Guglielmi, Bruni, Simbula, Fraccaroli, and Depolo (2016) conducted a study on job satisfaction and supported that career growth and the opportunity for self-development were predictors

for job satisfaction. Suslu (2006) suggested that if instructors are not motivated, they will not perform well, thus resulting in poor assessments from students.

Therefore, it is the responsibility of the organization to create a more conducive environment that boosts motivation while reducing attrition (Onwuka et al., 2017). An employee's motivation is a significant factor in achieving organizational goals and an instructor who is dealing with unreasonable demands from administrators and works in a negative team environment will feel disheartened.

Leadership. Effective leadership in higher education is demonstrated through the ability to navigate obstacles, cultures, and stakeholders while engaging employees' (Ruben, DeLisi, & Gigliotti, 2017). Avolio and Bass (2004) found that resourceful academic leaders are those who can motivate their faculty to perform better than the faculty anticipated. Despite a variation of leadership styles, an effective leader is one who can inspire, motivate, and direct activities to accomplish organizational goals (Amanchukwu, Stanley, & Ololube, 2015). Knight and Trowler (2000) pointed out that having an efficient leader in higher education promotes an environment that is favorable to learning, teaching, research, and overall excellence. Academic leaders have to find ways to not just lead their organizations but also to examine which leadership approach works best in a higher education context (Black, 2015). An effective leader has the potential to provide an institution with more holistic practices to consistently direct the concerns of management. As reported by Nwokocha (2014), leaders play a determinant role in organizational effectiveness, and as Northouse (2013) claimed, inappropriate or ineffective leadership could negatively affect employee retention.

Leadership requires being able to influence others. According to leadership theorists, an "effective leader can influence others to accomplish organizational goals" (Spendlove, 2007, p. 408). Armstrong (2014) noted leadership models used in higher education institutions are based on business models. Good leadership is about ensuring unity, enhancing human potential, and maximizing the value to stakeholders (Sathye, 2004). Ng'ethe, Iravo, and Namusonge (2012) claimed that leadership is a relationship in which one person can influence the behavior of the group to achieve goals and maximize efficiency. Leaders who influences members of the organization are willing to contribute their efforts towards achieving set goals (Veliu, Manxhari, Demiri, & Jahaj, 2017). Responsibility, accountability, and retention are not aligned solely to human resources departments alone; leaders also need to move to the front line and build a climate of retention (Wakabi, 2016). A leader is an individual, while leadership is the role the individual performs (Babatunde & Ikenga, 2015), and Schuler and Jackson (2006) described retention as everything an employer does to inspire qualified and dynamic employees to continue working for the organization.

Leadership is the practice of inspiring others to work towards achieving a goal. Muindi (2010) stated that dissatisfaction among academic staff at the University of Nairobi was due to leaders who communicated inadequately. Alonderiene and Majauskaite (2016) found that leaders can increase faculty job satisfaction by demonstrating specific leadership qualities. Leadership is a relationship in which one person or a group of individuals can influence the behavior or accomplishments of other people (Wakabi, 2016). As Meaghan and Bonitas (2002) indicated information that is

accessible leads to greater productivity and a healthy work culture. Employees feel their efforts are appreciated and their intention to leave is minimal. Recognition and appreciation from senior management is an important component in predicting job satisfaction (Sahl, 2017).

When leaders display poor management skills, lack of empathy toward faculty, and cannot effectively motivate employees there is likely to be higher turnover among staff (Njoroge & Yazdanifard, 2014). In the absence of effective communication skills, leaders will fail to achieve preset organizational goals (Luthra & Dahiya, 2015). According to Yousef (2000), when leaders take on a more consultative and participative leadership style, employees tend to be more satisfied and more productive. A shared commitment to organizational effectiveness stems from openness and trust from both leaders and employees (Smith, 2016). Employees are more satisfied with the organization when they are well informed about decisions and changes and have frequent contact with their managers (McAuliffe, Manafa, Maseko, Bowie, & White, 2009). In order for this type of communication and vision to be achieved, a certain level of trust must be developed between a leader and those they interact with (Luthra & Dahiya, 2015). Hee Yoon, Hyun Seo, and Seog Yoon (2004) pointed out that a supervisor's trust could build a climate of trust, respect and helpfulness between supervisor and subordinate. Ng'ethe et al. (2012) stated that employees leave managers, not organizations.

Motivation. Motivation has a deep influence on employee performance. Ton and Huckman (2008) claimed that high faculty turnover is a consequence of low motivation while Bhatti, Aslam, Hassan, and Sulaiman, (2016) found that extremely strong-minded,

resourceful, and innovative instructors are more likely to remain in their positions.

Malik's (2010) research on motivational factors of employees at a university in Pakistan indicated that motivation correlates with performance. Phattaro and Pejkla's (2015) work affirmed that motivation is part of the process of supporting the organization's goals and objectives, necessitating that employees have a platform to feel engaged and valued.

Mangaleswarasharma (2017) found that motivated teachers are more likely to motivate their students. Instructors who are extrinsically motivated may perform tasks to obtain a financial reward, whereas an intrinsically motivated instructor may perform a task for the personal satisfaction or accomplishment it provides (Mark, 2015).

Hsieh (2007) found that academic managers who do not understand the difficulty of motivation not only negatively affect employee performance but can also lower faculty morale. Faculty members may feel disconnected when it comes to program development and improvement. Pang and Lu (2018) claimed the more self-autonomy employees are given, the better their quality of work and their level of performance. Academic managers and deans of Saudi universities could implement efficient policies for faculty to build a more conducive learning environment (Abdul-Cader & Anthony, 2014). Weightman (2008) claimed that motivation is an issue that academic managers battle with daily and explained that motivation may influence productivity and positively affect teaching performance. According to research to the global innovation index report, 2009-2010 a higher education business institute, results were published ranking Saudi Arabia's education investment 11 globally and ranked 93 on the knowledge creation index.

investments and reducing profitability (Hsieh, 2007). Raziq and Maulabaksh (2015) contended that job satisfaction is a necessary component for employee motivation, which leads to better-quality performance.

Institutional support. Paulsen and Smart (2001) suggested that proper monitoring of employee satisfaction could decrease unnecessary spending. Programs that are designed to improve faculty satisfaction can be replaced with more effective efforts and modifications. Greenhaus and Allen (2012) found that if employees were unable to achieve a work-life balance, they were more likely to leave for an institution that promoted achievement of this expectation. A similar view by researchers in British Columbia found that if teachers did not receive support or a path to advancement from the institution, further stress and dissatisfaction were more likely to occur (Collie, Shapka, Perry, & Martin, 2015). In a study investigating the connection between faculty learning and institutional support, researchers concluded the more administrative support faculty received from the institution, the more satisfied they were and more likely they were to remain at the institution (O'Meara, Rivera, Kuvaeva, & Corrigan, 2017). Hafeez and Akbar (2015) reported the more employees receive professional development, the more creative and engaging they become in the classroom.

Environmental factors such as salary, interpersonal relationships, and administration play a role in positively or negatively influencing retention and morale (Centra, 2002). These factors can be monitored and maintained to improve faculty retention throughout the academic year. Al-Jassem, (2013) reported 34% of foreign workers returned home due to the rising cost of living in Saudi Arabia. The cost of living

and salaries are not consistent. Chen, Wang, and Chu (2010) claimed that to retain employees, job satisfaction, compensation, and career developments are important factors. Employee training programs refer to programs that enhance professional development and provide employees with new skills (Elnaga & Imran, 2013). By offering training, organizations are more likely to achieve organizational goals and retain employees (Vasudevan, 2014).

Communication is essential at all levels, regardless of whether it is a business or a higher education institution. Good leaders know that providing a culture of openness can create a trustworthy environment that will lead to better communication at all levels (Conrad, 2014). Employees will stay longer if they are involved or feel that their voices are heard. Labov (1997) claimed that organizations with strong communication systems have fewer turnovers of employees than those that communicate at only top levels. Organizational success is not only dependent on how it cultivates employee competencies and commitment, but also on how it can develop commitment towards the organization (BinBakr & Ahmed, 2015).

Demotivation. Dornyei (2001) described demotivation as external forces that lower the motivational basis of a behavioral action. Understanding demotivating factors, which negatively influence teacher's attitudes and behaviors and leads to undesired learning and teaching outcomes, should receive more attention (Tampubolon, 2017). Fattash (2013) conducted a qualitative study in Palestine that examined factors leading to burnout, stress, dissatisfaction, and lack of interest among faculty at a university. Results indicated that when faculty members were involved in decision-making, they felt more

connected and appreciated. Results also indicated that compensation was a significant factor in both motivation and retention, as instructors believed they should be compensated for their efforts in the classroom. Understanding what demotivates is as crucial as understanding what motivates, especially in teaching ESL (Ghanizadeh & Jahedizadeh, 2015). Foreign instructors regardless of experience, qualification, and performance cannot become eligible for tenure. This arrangement does not encourage institutional loyalty or quality performance (Ahmed, 2016). Researchers have begun to investigate different factors that may influence demotivation. The significance of teacher motivation has begun to be more understood, and a teacher who is not motivated cannot be expected to motivate learners (Ozturk, 2015).

A study on Iranian English teachers found they are demotivated by factors such as lack of recognition, lack of administrative support and encouragement, and lack of autonomy (Afshar & Doosti, 2016). Researchers in Korea found similar results, with English teachers feeling demotivated not only by the work environment, but also by the large gap in proficiency with their students, as well as having to work with low student motivation (Kim & Kim, 2015). Hettiarachchi (2013) examined aspects of demotivation with English teachers in Sri Lanka. The results confirmed that teachers are demotivated by the inefficiency of school administration, the discrepancy between the curriculum and language proficiency of their students, and limited teaching resources.

Although researchers have examined novice teachers' motivation in education, there has been little attention paid to novice ESL teachers and the factors that contribute to their demotivation. For them to transition successfully into their profession, it is

essential to understand what challenges they encounter (Farrell, 2016). Sali and Kecik (2018) reported novice ESL teachers correlate demotivation to lack of administrative and collegial support, no relief for professional development, low language proficiency levels among students, and copious amount of administrative responsibilities. Novice ESL teachers lack the resources needed to mitigate constraints, such as working with unenthusiastic students, inadequate pedagogy, and lack of administrative processes as outlined by Al-Seghayer (2014).

Organizational commitment. Leaders of organizations have begun to understand the importance of building organizational commitment among employees to ensure organizational effectiveness. Researchers in Botswana found that organizational commitment among university employees implies a willingness to promote the purpose for which the university was created (Fako, Orlando, Wilson, Forcheh, & Linn, 2018) and as noted by Wadhwa and Vergehse (2015) is the level to which an employee acquires a sense of belongingness to the organization. In a study examining teamwork and empowerment, Hanaysha (2016) found that employees with strong organizational commitment are more likely to develop a stronger emotional connection to their work environment and make more meaningful contributions. Organizational commitment is beneficial for both the organization and its employees; it reinforces a sense of belonging, job security, and higher intrinsic rewards (Azeem & Akhtar, 2014). Nkosi (2015) found that organizations that provide training on a regular basis have more organizational commitment and overall higher retention. Organizational commitment can lead to unique opportunities of success, institutional visibility, and enhanced reputation that benefits the

institution (Perry, Hunter, Currall, 2016). For an organization to guarantee employee commitment, it has to offer employees what they need, and empower them.

Attaining a work-life balance has a positive impact on the organizational commitment of university teachers in Pakistan (Arif & Farooqi, 2014); the teachers were satisfied with their positions, and committed to the institute. Teacher organizational commitment is regarded as a willingness to be part of the school to which one belongs (Werang & Pure, 2017). Highly committed teachers are less likely to be absent or leave their jobs, while teachers with low commitment are often absent and more likely to leave their position (Werang & Pure, 2017). Academic institutions rely on teachers to shape the cognitive, and socio-emotional formation of their students (Quiambao & Nuqul, 2017); their pedagogical ideas can influence mindsets. Organizational commitment of faculty is vital for the continuous delivery of education to students.

Implications

When examining ESL faculty attrition, common themes in the literature were job dissatisfaction, demotivation, and lack of communication. Providing faculty with supportive leadership is challenging. Researchers Al-Hussami et al. (2011) noted that it is becoming a necessity for academic leaders to improve their management practices to support a work environment that encourages employees and fosters job satisfaction. Many researchers discussed the need for better leadership and improved communication between managers and instructors. Barth, Dillon, Hull, and Higgins (2016) suggested providing time and resources for leadership development and for ongoing professional development for teachers. As noted by AlKahtani (2013), ongoing professional

development in higher education has become an important requirement as employees and managers have significant roles in future development and growth. Understanding instructors' perceptions of job satisfaction and factors related to retention may provide insights to improve hygiene factors and add motivational factors. As reported by Islam (2013), human capital is the most important element in any organization and should be treated with respect. This means that managers must offer more support to instructors, which in turn will increase their performance.

The results of this study may be useful to administrators of the ESL program to determine what issues lead to attrition among ESL instructors. It is important for stakeholders to learn best practices related to how to retain highly qualified teachers. Researchers Konoske-Graf, Partelow and Benner (2016) suggested schools adapt their recruiting strategies by concentrating on human capital of employees and capitalizing on their knowledge and experience. The authors suggested incorporating training at the beginning of the hiring process. This study may contribute to positive social change at SGU and at other universities in Saudi Arabia by gaining a better understanding of why ESL teachers leave prematurely so that interventions to improve attrition can be realized. Given the paucity of this type of research in Saudi Arabia, this study may offer guidance to other Saudi institutions to improve faculty retention in ESL programs and more broadly, in other academic areas.

Summary

The problem of high faculty attrition that universities in Saudi Arabia are faced with continue to challenge policymakers and academic managers. Problems identified

include dissatisfaction, demotivation, lack of transparency, and communication. Although there is extensive research on the reasons for employee and instructor turnover in Saudi Arabia, there is limited research on what influences turnover in Saudi Arabia. By identifying issues that lead quality ESL instructors to leave prematurely, academic managers may develop and implement retention strategies that could lead to a more balanced, efficient institution, and improved ESL instruction. Saudi Arabian higher education faces significant challenges related to implementing retention strategies and faculty development. Section 1 summarized the local effects of the retention problem, which supports the need for further research, and implications for the proposed study. In Section 2, I discuss the qualitative methodology that was used to investigate attrition and improve retention from the perspectives of the research participants. The study's guiding research questions categorized the themes for data interpretation. Section 3 contains a detailed description of the project, literature review that discusses possible solutions to the problem and implications for social change within the institutions of Saudi Arabia. Section 4, I summarize my reflections and conclusions of this study.

Section 2: The Methodology

Research Design and Approach

The purpose of this study was to explore teachers' and administrators' perceptions about the attrition of female expatriate ESL teachers at SGU. According to Merriam (2009), qualitative research is commonly used in education to understand how people internalize their experiences. This study added detail and depth to understanding how subjects in this study understand attrition and retention by capturing their perceptions through personal interviews.

Justification of Design

Using a qualitative case study, I delivered a better understanding of human perspective through the interpretation of data collected from the interview process (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). Yin (2009) stated that case studies focus on the *how* and *why* of the phenomenon under investigation and are appropriate for examining contemporary events. I chose to conduct a case study approach to compare, explore, and elicit detailed responses from ESL instructors and administrators.

Although qualitative studies are founded on the human experience (Merriam, 2009), not all types of qualitative case studies are appropriate for this study. Due to the nature of the academic calendar at SGU, time is an important factor. Work contracts are for 1 year and instructors have the choice to not renew. This eliminated an ethnographic study that provides a description of cultural groups or communities under investigation for prolonged periods of time (Lodico, Spaulding, & Voegtle, 2010). Creswell (2012) stated that grounded theory consists of longitudinal and inductive methods that are

usually used in social sciences to develop theories through data analysis. Grounded theory uses interview data, document data and focuses on comparisons (Gentles, Charles, Ploeg, & McKibbon, 2015). I did want to form a theory; therefore, this was not an appropriate mode of study. Phenomenological research as noted by Merriam (2009), is better suited to study affective, emotional, and intense human experiences. I did not select a phenomenological approach because I examined participants' opinions and not their emotions.

Quantitative research reveals causality with precise measurements in a controlled environment, whereas qualitative research applies an inductive reasoning approach (Lund, 2007, pp.115-132), which was more in line with my research. The purpose of my study was to explore issues that relate to attrition and retention of ESL instructors and learn more about aspects that may improve the retention of ESL instructors at SGU. In separate reports, Creswell (2012) and Patton (2014) concurred that using case studies in qualitative research supports intervention, deconstruction, and the reconstruction of various phenomena. A qualitative case study was appropriate for this study as I examined issues that contribute to attrition as well as what retention strategies are presently in place.

For the interviews, I developed an in-depth list of interview questions and prompts to stimulate perceptions and ideas from ESL instructors and administrators (Creswell, 2012). The three groups I purposefully selected as research participants were four administrators responsible for decision-making and program requirements, four experienced ESL instructors, and four ESL novice instructors. Each interview lasted 1

hour and was audiotaped. After each interview was completed, I transcribed it from the audiotapes. The remainder of this section discusses the study design and provides a systematic description of the research components and outcomes.

Population and Sample

The setting for this study was a large government university located in the city of Riyadh with 294 ESL instructors who teach 5,000 students in the English Department. Each instructor was qualified to teach ESL and had a minimum of 2 years ESL teaching experience prior to working at SGU. I selected this site because of its familiarity and accessibility. Academic managers and deans of the university are of Saudi nationality and received formal education in either Saudi Arabia or different educational settings in the United States.

Participants

I purposefully selected 12 participants from three subgroups who met the criteria and who had the ability to expound on the instructor turnover and attrition that remains a challenge at SGU. Creswell (2012) described purposeful sampling as an approach where the researcher intentionally selects a group of participants who can describe the phenomenon being studied. Merriam (2009) stated, "purposeful sampling is based on the assumption that the investigator wants to discover, understand, and gain insight and therefore must select a sample from which the most can be learned" (p. 77). Crouch and McKenzie (2006) suggested that using a small number of participants aides in facilitating the researcher's association with participants and thereby enhances validity and in-depth inquiry.

After receiving approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board, approval number 02-15-19-0506917, I sent a formal letter to the university's research committee outlining a detailed justification and purpose for this research (Appendix D). The Vice-Dean of Student Affairs served as a gatekeeper. The Vice-Dean of Student Affairs is responsible for approving research before it is sent to the university's research committee to ensure that it is culturally sensitive and that the university's reputation remains intact. After receiving permission from SGU's research committee, I contacted the Office of Academic Affairs. Eligible study participants were identified through the Office of Academic Affairs and the email addresses were provided to me. I then sent an email with an overview of the study and attached the consent form (Appendix E). All participants had to meet the inclusion criteria of being a novice or experienced teacher (with a minimum of 2 years of experience), or an administrator working at SGU for a minimum of two years. Creswell (2012) defined purposeful sampling as the methods used in selecting a group of participants to participate in a study. The first four from each group to sign and return the consent form via e-mail were selected as participants in the study. The letters served to describe how the study will be of benefit to the university and to assure the research committee and participants that the identities of all participants were protected and will remain confidential. Participants chosen to take part in the study were notified via email.

Researcher – Participant Relationship

I was employed at the university for 8 years (from 2010-2017) and held an administrative position in higher management. I built a level of trust with the academic

managers and deans of the English program. As a researcher, I made the purpose of the study clear to participants and assured them that the university, as well as their names, will be confidential and protected. A researcher must gain the participants' trust and support to establish a researcher-participant relationship (Creswell, 2012). I informed participants that they may separate themselves from this study at any time without penalty or judgment. As a researcher it is my responsibility to build a positive working relationship (Patton, 2014). I was accessible to participants via e-mail.

Ethical Considerations

Before the study was initiated, ethical issues were considered. Participants were sent an email with a description of the study and a consent form detailing the purpose of the qualitative study, research procedures, participants' right to withdraw at any time during the interview process without penalty, and participant privacy (Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2012). They received information regarding the study to include risks, procedures, and benefits of participating and were informed they could discontinue participation at any time. Those who agreed to participate in the study were asked to sign the informed consent form. Participants' names, place of employment, and positions will remain confidential. Information about data collection and data analysis were included in the IRB application.

Data gathered throughout this study remained confidential and are secured in my office with a lock and key that only I have access to. No identifying information from participants were attached to participants during data analysis. Information collected is stored on a password-protected personal computer and will be electronically destroyed

after 5 years. Paper records are stored in a locked file cabinet in my home that only I have access to.

The potential risks for participating in this study were minimal, and there were no physical risks associated with participating in this study. While no interview questions were intended to influence participants' mental well-being, I recognized that some conversation may be sensitive, and I did my best to assure participants that their privacy was protected. Each participant was provided with a formal consent form to review and I explained the consent form before each interview.

Data Collection

To collect qualitative data that represented the perceptions of managers and faculty, I used Creswell's (2012) five-step process in data collection: a) identifying the participants, b) obtaining permission from the participating site, c) determining the data collection method, d) systematically organizing information, and e) considering any ethical issues that may occur during data collection. The primary method of data collection were SKYPE interviews. I emailed participants to inquire about their availability for the interviews and provided them with times and dates they could choose from. During the course of the interviews I collected data from participants that included how many years they have been ESL instructors, how long they have been employed at the university, and the courses they are teaching. I used the following approaches:

- After each participant agreed to participate in the study, I scheduled a SKYPE interview, based on the convenience of the participant's schedule.
- 2. I informed participants that interviews will be audiotaped.

- 3. I transcribed each interview by hand.
- 4. During the interview, I remained neutral with the information that the participants shared with me.
- 5. I took only short notes to avoid participants perceiving a lack of interest or indicating a good deal of interest.

Designing and developing an interview protocol (Appendix B) enabled note taking and allowed for additional questions during the interview process (Creswell, 2012). The interview protocol (Appendix B) promotes structure, guiding questions, nature of the study, and information regarding receipt of participants' consent. Data collected during the interviews helped me to present a detailed description of participants' insights into the retention problem and identify potential strategies to reduce the problem. Data were analyzed as it was collected, beginning with the first interview and continuing throughout the duration of the study.

Data Analysis

The way data were analyzed is critical. I transcribed, organized and analyzed the data for each interview. Once the in-depth interviews were transcribed, I began the coding process. Responses were first color coded according to questions, and then I sorted the responses based on similarities in the participants' responses. Analyzing participants' responses involves preparing and organizing data by categorizing repetitive patterns or themes that appear throughout the study. Yin (2016) advised using a five-phased cycle of compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding during the data analysis stage. All data was collected and compiled into applicable

categories. I continued to conduct data analysis and interpretation throughout the study. Sample codes I used were job satisfaction, planning, leadership, and motivation. These codes then fed into three categories; investing in teachers, incentives, and leadership styles.

To begin the analyzing process, I highlighted repeated words and concepts with different colors to note similarities and frequency and to write patterns and phrases on the transcript. A code is a phrase used to describe a unit of data. Examples of words that were repeated throughout the interviews were micromanagement, professional development, top down management, incentive, planning and motivation. As Lodico et al. (2010) explained, coding is the process of identifying different portions of the data that explain connected occurrences and labeling these parts using comprehensive category names. I used open coding to define and develop categories and concepts that were represented during the interview process and to explore how they related. I identified relationships among the initial codes by analyzing and color-coding responses. I identified a pattern with leadership and leadership styles, planning and providing opportunities for growth.

I triangulated different data sources to improve the trustworthiness and credibility of the results. As explained by Creswell (2009), the data triangulation process includes using data from a variety of sources of information to increase the validity of the study. Yeasmin and Rahman (2012) concurred with Creswell that triangulation entails validating evidence obtained from multiple viewpoints, which adds credibility and authenticity to the study. Participants' responses were examined for areas of differences and similarities.

Transcript member checking validated data from the interviews with participants to ensure no misrepresentation occurred. Participants were emailed a copy of their original transcript and were asked to make any changes they wished to the document. The purpose of member checking is to assess whether the data analyzed accurately reflects participants responses during interviews. Conducting member checking provided participants with the opportunity to add to or change their responses. It ensured accuracy of the interpretation of participants regarding attrition and retention. Member checking also allows for the removal of inconsistencies in the data to minimize or eliminate reporting bias (Yin, 2014). I asked for all transcripts to be returned to me within 1 week. If I did not receive the transcript back, I assumed no changes were needed to the transcript.

Limitations

Creswell (2012) noted limitations are potential problems or weaknesses of a study. A limitation of this study was that I could not interview instructors that resigned before their contract ended. SGU does not have an exit interview process and I would not have been given permission to contact instructors once they left the university to return to their home country. Before starting this study, I resigned from my position, thereby eliminating any conflict of interest. The credibility of the study assumes that participants presented honest responses.

Data Analysis Results

The data analysis explored perceptions from three groups of participants that included administrators, novice ESL instructors, and experienced ESL instructors. The

purpose of this qualitative case was to investigate why ESL instructors leave SGU prematurely and learn how administrative efforts may improve the retention of ESL instructors. I interviewed 12 participants through SKYPE, and personally transcribed and analyzed the interviews to identify common themes. The interviews allowed me to better understand the complexity of their jobs and discover the factors they perceived as contributing to faculty attrition. To maintain confidentiality, I removed all identifying information regarding participant responses. Analyzed transcripts will remain in a password-protected server that only I have access to for five years.

Participant Demographic and Information

Participants consisted of four novice ESL instructors, four experienced ESL instructors, and four ESL administrators. Participants in this study were all female as the university is for females only, a common occurrence in Saudi Arabia. Participants worked at the university for two years to seven years. The length of interviews took approximately one hour each, and after the conclusion of each interview, I transcribed the audio recordings. Once the recordings were transcribed, participants were sent their transcriptions and were asked to check for accuracy and validity. They were advised to make any changes they required to the document and I did not receive any written or verbal communication requesting changes to the transcripts.

At the beginning of each interview participants were asked general questions regarding their roles at the university. Participants explained their roles, how they transitioned from one role to the next, their understanding of how the English program

works at SGU, and their perception of attrition. They also expressed the importance of long-term planning and how it relates to attrition.

After conducting SKYPE interviews, participant responses were transcribed.

Transcripts were validated by participants through member checking to ensure validity (Merriam, 2009). At no time were participants' names used in the transcript as participants were assigned letter codes. I used coding to aggregate primary data into main categories and themes that were used to translate the meaning of participants' responses.

Coding requires identifying similar ideas in interviewees' responses and assigning code labels for easier classification. Since the study was small and manageable, coding was manually conducted by me without the use of a software program (Merriam, 2009).

Preliminary data and patterns emerged after I analyzed the responses to the interviews. The themes that were aligned to the research questions:

- RQ1: What are novice ESL instructor's perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected university in Saudi Arabia?
- RQ2: What are experienced ESL instructor's perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected site in Saudi Arabia?
- RQ3: What are ESL administrator's perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected university in Saudi Arabia?

I used semistructured interview questions and prompting in order to gain in-depth responses and insight from the participants related to the reasons for high ESL faculty attrition. I highlighted individual transcripts and created short phrases to summarize each narrative. I then reviewed data entries and highlighted terms to identify commonality and

variation. The common themes and or factors that emerged were as follows: (a) long term planning, (b) incentives, and (c) top-down leadership style.

Research Question 1

RQ1 asked: What are novice ESL instructors' perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected university in Saudi Arabia? The interview questions encouraged participants to share examples from previous teaching positions and what led them to SGU. The instructors answered questions about their perceptions regarding high attrition. Participant A spoke about wanting to "work at the largest female university in the Middle East." Participant B shared similar feelings, but spoke more about her interest in Middle East history and wanting to "immerse myself in the culture." She also spoke about the "unique opportunity to engage and interact with the next generation of female leaders."

Participant C and D shared the same desire as participants A and B; however, both spoke more about management and leadership practices. Participant C described a culture where there are no monetary or professional growth advantages for instructors. Participant D described the culture as "fear based", noting that management would often "resort to fear tactics in order to get teachers to meet deadlines." It was evident that Participant D thought new instructors do not receive quality administrative support, when she said, "Management would often say you need to do this or you are going to get a warning." Participants discussed the lack of communication they had with their academic director, and upper management in general. The participants also shared that teaching their students was rewarding, and they would like to be recognized for their efforts.

The literature on Herzberg's motivation / hygiene theory was consistent with perceptions from novice instructors. Instructors who lacked motivators such as a feeling of importance or not receiving recognition were dissatisfied with management.

Thibodeaux, Labat, Lee, and Labat (2015) noted that administrative leadership styles have an impact on teachers' attrition. Findings also suggested that administrators should be more aware of how their leadership style impacts teachers (Thibodeaux et al., 2015).

Internal motivation has led some instructors to remain at SGU, Participant A stated "I want to be here, so that's why I'm staying." External motivators contributed to Participant D's decision to stay who explained, "I feel there wasn't much last year, but now the university is investing me, they are offering me classes to develop my skills." All participants, in particular novice teachers, noted monetary compensation as a major element that contributes to attrition. A substantial amount of literature has been complied over the years that validate the conclusion that teachers' salaries affect whether they stay or leave (Baker & Weber, 2016). All mentioned they would like to have a higher salary and Participant C found it "strange that each year it remains the same" or that "others with the same experience and qualifications earn more, it kind of seems like a lottery in that regard." Feng (2014) stated that higher salaries are associated with higher teacher retention. Overall novice instructors discussed the undesirable administrative support they received that led them to desire external motivators.

Research Ouestion 2

RQ2 asked: What are experienced ESL instructors' perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected university in Saudi Arabia? Experienced instructors who

have been at SGU for five years or more had similar responses to those of novice instructors, as well as some different perceptions to research question two; what are experienced ESL instructor's perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected site in Saudi Arabia? Participant E stated, "you might not believe this, but I actually like coming into work every day, of course it is mentally exhausting, but on a personal level this is my social interaction." Participant F said, "I feel that I have grown as a teacher, I feel like I can just walk into any institution, because of the challenges that I have faced here." Internal motivation was discussed by Participant G, who stated, "I would rather be back in South Africa, but due to financial responsibilities I am here."

Participants G and H described the culture as "autocratic" and "top down," whereas Participant F described it as lacking a team spirit, and "finding ways to tell people about the negative aspects of their job, as opposed to finding a positive solution." This is consistent with Callahan's (2016) findings, in which he stated that more teachers leave the profession due to lack of administrative support and feeling overwhelmed, which inevitably leads to burn out. Participant H, who gave her notice to leave, felt that as someone who taught for more than 10 years in the field of ESL, she was treated "with a lack of professional respect and acknowledgment of the experience she has". She also described how a lack of clarity in communication and transparency from administrators to instructors could lead to attrition.

Long-term planning and further investment into professional development are areas that Participants E and G see "as useful and essential," especially if those trainings are led by "qualified trainers and instructors, not just someone that has an interest in it",

suggested Participant G. Participant E felt that, "Investing in teachers is a good form of retention", and she followed up that statement by saying "instructors perceive the professional development they receive as punitive, rather than positive." Trainings are carried out during a time when students are on break, "letting people know why trainings can only be held during this time, or how and why it is being implemented would make me feel less micromanaged," as stated by Participant F.

Participant H addressed the lack of planning that she perceived as a key component to attrition, "It goes back to better planning from management, if they planned ahead, and informed us, we would feel less stressed and demotivated." The qualitative data collected from eight ESL instructors indicate that a lack of administrative support contributes to attrition. Experienced instructors described an environment that lacked clarity from administrators and left them feeling disrespected and micromanaged.

Research Question 3

RQ3 asked: What are ESL administrator's perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected university in Saudi Arabia? Human resource administrators and academic managers at SGU who participated in the study work jointly in hiring ESL instructors. Themes of leadership, communication, and planning emerged as they responded to research question three; what are ESL administrator's perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected university in Saudi Arabia? Participant I stated, "I think if we try to be flexible and democratic in our approach to teachers while still remaining in the box of rules and regulations we could retain more." Participant J commented on how difficult it can be to retain instructors, especially when salaries are

cut prior to resigning contracts. Acheson, Taylor, and Luna (2016) found that dissatisfaction due to increased stress affected teachers' commitment and potentially led to attrition

Participant K felt that "retention and motivation are not prioritized at all, I feel that this is very low among priorities, and keeping motivation levels high is not there." Participant L agreed with that statement and shared that "theoretically I think there is something that should get done, but no one takes the practical steps to implement actions to keep them." Participants I and J felt that it was difficult to be positive all the time, due to the constant changes, Participant J said that "if teachers see we are trying to factor in their needs, they will be motivated to stay." Managers felt that due to a lack of job security and salary cuts from human resource, instructors are more likely to leave. Human resource representatives said they are essentially working for the university, they are delivering messages, be it deductions or that contracts will not be renewed, and they did not see how they were able to positively affect attrition.

Participant I explained that because numbers drive the program, they do not spend as much time as they would like during the recruitment process to fully prepare instructors for the position, or go beyond looking at the minimum requirements. This statement correlates to what Participant H stated in that "it is extremely insensitive of management and offensive to veteran teachers to have academic managers and instructors who are not competent or knowledgeable."

Theme 1: Long -term Planning. Participants spoke about the need for long term planning, in conjunction with academic planning. Participant E commented that long-

term investment into instructors is not emphasized, and because of this the instructors do not see a reason to commit. The constant changes and having to keep up with them were issues that instructors struggled with. Participants D and E spoke about how better planning would reduce the "policing" and "micromanagement." Participants shared in their interviews that long-term planning does not exist and as Participant E commented "ideally there should be a structure in place that could work for two to five years." Participant H suggested, "If the program were run successfully, you would get a group of teachers that would stay because they love the environment because it serves as a social function."

Participants D and H spoke about down time that teachers have throughout the year, when they are required to be on campus, but students are off. Participant D said, "we are just sitting in our office doing nothing", Participant H had similar thoughts on this and said; "I think managers should be using our down time to plan ahead." Participants in the novice group and experienced group shared similar narratives about only having teaching materials the week they returned from summer vacation and not being fully prepared to teach the content. Prokop and Illingworth (2016) noted that long-term planning allows for gradual and cumulative developments, and saves time for future preparation, thereby making initiatives more impactful.

Theme 2: Incentives. Participant D spoke about doing good things and not being recognized nor rewarded for it, "that's maybe why many new teachers end up leaving." A researcher in Afghanistan studying attrition rates in middle school found that teachers leave the profession due to low salaries and late reimbursements (Aslami, 2013).

Participant I said that incentives to her "would be integrating some sort of positive reinforcement or incentive system, but I can't explain what that would like look." Participants from both the novice and experienced group shared their perceptions on how salaries are a root cause of attrition. They spoke about the financial inconsistencies they have either experienced or witnessed. Participant C felt that when it came to providing correct information regarding salaries or holidays, the information received was inconsistent or "just completely wrong, and there was no regard to wanting to provide the right information, it was infuriating."

Participant A shared sentiments of Participant C, however she said, "financial retribution is a good way to retain people." Researchers Muguongo, Muguna and Mutiithi (2015) stated that employee expectations of compensation should be fair, equitable, and that it should not only provide them with tangible rewards, but it should provide recognition. Participant H began working with a fairly high salary and then one day "I came to work to be told that my salary would be cut. At first, I was naturally upset, but I accepted it, as I do love my job. But then I was speaking to other teachers, and realized that people with less experience and qualifications than me were earning more than I was." This statement correlates to Participant C equating salaries to a lottery system. Participant C explained that while money is a main motivator, she also felt that "management should be more understanding of why that motivates people."

Theme 3: Leadership: All participants commented that leadership has a significant role in attrition. Participant I felt that "it is unfair at the end of the year for managers to receive acknowledgments and rewards, it's the teachers that should be

recognized for the work they do." Administrative relationships can impact instructors' feelings of being either satisfied or dissatisfied with their positions. A positive work environment fosters trusting and cooperative relationships, resulting in more schools retaining more staff (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2014).

Participant E spoke about leading by example. She thought it was good practice to promote teachers into management, however "people like me in management should be given an opportunity for growth, maybe invest more into management by providing training programs." Participant H felt that academic managers "are appointed because of their internal connection, any position of authority on English programs should be vetted according to their ESL specific qualifications and experience." Whitaker (2011) noted that when a teacher earns a position but is not quite a great teacher; there needs to be a plan in place to get him or her there. Whitaker also noted that hiring and providing the right type of development for great teachers can help maintain veteran teachers.

Participant K spoke about the importance of getting feedback from teachers, she felt that because teachers do not have a voice, they feel less motivated and in turn choose to leave the program. She also spoke about the importance of working as a unit, "and to try and maintain a sense of teamwork rather than a top down leadership system. If we can do this, I believe it will help us to keep going and improving." Participant's G narrative focused on leadership being "authentic and approachable, just having good leadership really." The participants in the experienced group had similar statements and spoke about individuals in leadership "showing more professionalism" and "professional respect." Barrett and Breyer (2014) noted that a collaborative partnership between administrators

and teachers may be helpful uniting efforts. Researchers Paulsen and Martin (2014) stated that teachers believe administrators must understand and support learning processes and understand the challenges involved.

Conclusion

The focus of this qualitative study was to gain an understanding from ESL instructors and administrators regarding their perceptions of why teachers leave their positions. I conducted SKYPE interviews to gather data, and ask questions focused on the perception of attrition from novice, and experienced ESL instructors as well as administrators that work in the ESL program. Findings from my research will provide necessary information surrounding factors on attrition and areas in which could be improved to retain instructors. Results from my research indicated that attrition does not have one layer. Participants spoke about factors that contribute to attrition such as; long term planning, incentives, leadership, and benefits of professional development. Section 3 provides an overall description of the project.

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

The purpose of this research study was to explore why ESL instructors left SGU prematurely and to learn how administrative efforts may improve the retention of instructors. Researchers have sought to understand influences related to why employees decide to leave their organization; however, George (2015) argued that this mindset needs to shift and focus should be on understanding what makes employees stay. The expectation was that by interviewing different groups of individuals who have different perceptions on attrition, I would gain a better understanding of why attrition continues to be a problem. Participants in this study were asked about their perceptions regarding attrition. I analyzed the qualitative data collected through individual interviews and developed a 3-day professional development training targeted to the needs of management and instructors to effect positive social change concerning teacher attrition.

Rationale

The overall goal of this study was to understand ESL instructors' perceptions of attrition at SGU. Three main strategies emerged from the data analysis in conjunction with the collected data from ESL instructors and administrators. These strategies focused on relationship management, work environment, and recognition and awards. The results of my study aligned with evidence in the literature review. The data showed that instructors were dissatisfied with the lack of planning and constant changes throughout the academic year. The data also revealed that a lack of recognition and incentives were key issues associated with attrition. Lastly, participants did not feel supported by

management. Data from interviews aligned with Herzberg's motivation hygiene theory. Addressing hygiene factors, such as organizational policies and salaries, decreased feelings of dissatisfaction. Retaining teachers reduced the cost associated with attrition, and improved culture and morale (Shockley, Watlington & Felsher, 2013). The findings in this study supported the notion that retaining employees is important if an institution aims to reduce organizational costs by increasing job satisfaction and reducing voluntary turnover. Faculty job satisfaction and its relationship to retention in higher education are business related issues; a 5% increase in retention can lead to a 10% cost reduction (Wong & Heng, 2009).

Mahzan and Abidin (2017) used Herzberg's two-factory theory to examine how leaders can reduce attrition by decreasing job dissatisfaction; they concluded that Herzberg's theory provided a valuable framework for better understanding the effects of employees' job satisfaction on turnover intention. With that in mind, the purpose of the 3-day professional development training was to (a) discuss attrition and its impact on the program, (b) move towards a transformational leadership style between instructors and leadership, and (c) devise a system for recognition and awards that contributes to job satisfaction.

Review of the Literature

I conducted this second literature review using the following search words and phrases: attrition, relationship management, leadership and faculty relationship, attrition in the Middle East, effects of leadership on retention, university culture and retention, incentives and retention, and motivation and faculty retention. The purpose of

this review of literature was to align evidence to support a 3-day professional development workshop to address the problem. The following databases were searched to perform the review—Google Scholar, ERIC, SAGE, ProQuest Dissertation, —as well as governmental websites that include Ministry of Education Saudi Arabia and Saudi Arabia Government Investment Authority. Using Herzberg's two-factory theory to guide this project, I discuss the literature related to the three categories; transformational leadership, job satisfaction, and recognition and awards.

Transformational Leadership

Participants spoke about leadership styles and how they affect attrition. Having a positive relationship with staff helps managers understand why employees decide to stay (Milman & Dickson, 2014). Participants did not feel empowered or inspired by managers. Chou, Chang, and Han (2016) found that managers who adopt a transformational leadership style that includes empowering and inspiring employees may be influential in strengthening the employee manager relationship by increasing employees' commitment and job satisfaction. Transformational leaders inspire employees to perform at a high level and in turn employees are more committed to the organization (Tse et al., 2013). Callier (2016) found a connection between transformational leadership and the decision to stay or leave. Iqbal and Hashmi (2015) reported that employees feel empowered when working for a transformational leader, because their empowerment results in higher performing employees, which then results in organizational commitment. Bacea and Bordean (2016) concurred that employees' level of commitment

and satisfaction with their job depends on how well their manager fosters employee growth.

Lawrence, Ott, and Bell (2012) asserted that administrators that take on new leadership responsibilities may not understand the importance of encouraging and fostering an open and productive conversation with faculty members. Fostering morale can be a daunting task to leaders, however research has indicted that subtle changes can positively impact the way one feels about the organization (Whitaker, Whitaker, & Lumpa, 2009). As Kessler and Snodgrass (2014) reported, effective communication can boost morale. Fullan (2011), Meador (2016), and Weissbound, and Jones (2014) found that when leaders are trustworthy, empathetic, and effective communicators job satisfaction and morale are increased.

Long (2015) claimed the quality of an institution's leadership directly influences attrition. Schaefer (2019) concurred and went on to explain that a competent administrator recognizes the morale level within his or her institution correlates to employee satisfaction. Employees who feel valued are more likely to be satisfied, which supports that a leader's ability to form relationships contributes to reduced voluntary turnover (Teoh, Coyne, Devonish, Leather, & Zarola, 2016).

Recognition and Awards

White (2015) noted that ineffective recognition and award strategies cause a decline in employee commitment, job satisfaction, and trust. White (2015) found that managers providing frequent and personal feedback foster effective recognition and reward strategies that help to build appreciation. Recognition must be authentic and given

in a public setting. Ertuk (2014) claimed that managers who provide fair performance rewards to employees are better equipped to retain employees. This aligns with findings from Baker, Mohamad, and Sharmeela-Banu (2015) who noted that employees who receive recognition and awards are more likely to be satisfied with their jobs and remain with the organization. Sharanya's (2016) results support that giving rewards results in employees feeling valued. Akafo and Boateng (2015) conducted a study on rewards and recognition in seven universities in Nigeria. A survey among 157 respondents concluded a positive relationship exists between rewards and job satisfaction.

These studies align with Herzberg's motivation/ hygiene theory, by supporting that recognition is positively associated with job satisfaction and increases motivation. At the University of Sultan Zainal Abidin Rahim and Daud (2013), used Herzberg's two factory theory to identify how rewards motivated employees. They concluded that rewards have a positive effect on motivation. Fisher (2015) found that recognition provides encouragement, develops job satisfaction, and improves relationships between employees and managers.

Ndungu (2017) asserted that management should be flexible in its methods of recognition; different forms of recognition motivate employees. Nelson (2003) claimed for organizations to ensure that employee recognition activities are effective, genuine, and meaningful; recognition should be fair, transparent, inclusive, timely, and meaningful. Selden and Sowa (2015) found that organizations that recognize employees to establish a balance between employee goals and organization goals keep moral high. This correlates to the findings of Amoatemaa and Kyeremeh (2016) suggesting that

recognition is a supplement to financial rewards and is used to motivate and cultivate high performance.

Job Dissatisfaction

Maugi, Soomro, Chumro, Abidi, and Jalbani (2013), found that job satisfaction decreased due to unclear rules and policies from the university. Researchers Yang, Wan, and Fu (2013) claimed that an increase in conflict and an increase in work pressure result when employees are not included in organizational decisions that affect them. Managers that know how to influence and increase job satisfaction can increase organizational commitment, and reduce employee attrition (Santa Cruz, Lopez-Guzman, & Canizares, 2014).

Training. Selden and Sowa (2015) noted that organizations improve retention by investing time and resources on developing employees as leaders and cultivating a positive work environment. Insufficient job-specific training for employees could have devastating effects on an organization (Thomas, Brown, & Thomas, 2017). Employees cannot enhance their skills without professional training (Hanaysha & Tahir, 2016). Bogenschutz, Nord, and Hewitt (2015) asserted that organizations with inadequate training and advancement opportunities are more likely to see an increase in voluntary employee turnover. Ongoing training is essential for moderating employee dissatisfaction.

Succession Planning. According to Stadler (2011), the main component of succession planning is for management to select successors who share the organization's strategic vision and objectives. To plan for the development of effective leaders, leaders

in higher education institutions have to explore obstacles faced by potential successors and the conditions needed to facilitate a natural progression into leadership positions. (Keller, 2018). Oladopo (2014) claimed successful retention begins with good hiring practices since competent and motivated people will remain longer. Oladopo (2015) also noted that poor hiring practices increase attrition, which places an extra burden of time and performance on experienced employees.

Successful succession planning is not only dependent on identifying suitable candidates, but also on mentoring and training (Koranteng, 2014). Gaffney (2005) stated that succession planning is a way to help organizations identify, develop, and promote employees from within by using a comprehensive talent management strategy. Pierce (2015) described succession planning as taking active steps toward mitigating built-in bias and preparing for the future by not replicating the past. Pierce (2015) explained that succession planning is not grooming or cloning, as this action is what leads organizations down a bias path.

Project Description

The goals of the 3-day professional development workshop are to promote the collaboration of key stakeholders to develop strategies aimed at reducing teacher attrition through improved long-term planning, the implementation of incentives to recognize exemplary professional practice, and interventions to improve leadership styles..

Kennedy (2016) noted that professional developments should provide content for facilitators who are familiar with the audience, their experiences, and their motivators.

The workshop will include collaboration opportunities, informational sessions, and small

group breakout sessions. At the end of each day participants will be asked to evaluate the effectiveness of the session by completing an outcome-based survey (Appendix A) that will assess if goals have been met. Participants will include management, ESL instructors, deans, and the head of human resources. The goal of the program is for key stakeholders to implement strategies to increase teacher retention and meet at the beginning, midway, and at the end of the semester to examine goal outcomes.

Participants will focus on three themes; transformational leadership, recognition and awards, and job dissatisfaction.

Day 1. The main goal of the first workshop day is to understand the key elements of why attrition is high, establish a charter, and identify key areas of retention that can be measured. The Dean of Academic Affairs and the Director of the English program will start the morning off by explaining the purpose of the workshop and the collaboration that is required to make this workshop successful. I will present the results from my study for transparency and a starting point for discussion. Discussions will first occur as a large group and then participants will break into smaller groups. Each participant will have a number assigned to her at her table. Participants who have number 1 will sit together and discuss transformational leadership, participants with number 2 will discuss recognition and awards, and participants with number 3 will discuss job dissatisfaction. Each group will consist of 5-6 participants. The goal of breaking into smaller groups is for each group to discuss the impact of the results and how positive change may occur. The duration of the workshop is 7 hours and the session will end with participants completing an assessment and writing down follow-up questions for the next day.

Day 2. Day 2 will begin with the dean and head of the English department speaking about efforts that have been used in the past to reduce attrition and improve overall job satisfaction. Those speaking points will facilitate a deep dive deep into transformational leadership and job dissatisfaction. Participants will be broken into small groups and will work in the same groups as they did the day before. Participants will be asked to discuss hygiene factors that affect their performance and each participant will have a number assigned to her, as in day one. Participants who have number 1 will discuss long-term planning, participants with number 2 will discuss incentives, and participants with number 3 will discuss leadership. Each group will consist of 5-6 participants. The objective of working in small groups is for participants to discuss the challenges faced related to the topics and brainstorm solutions. Day 2 will conclude with an opportunity to ask questions from the previous day, provide an overview of the day, and will be followed by an assessment and the plan for day 3.

Day 3. Day 3 will begin by addressing any questions or concerns regarding the information covered in days 1 and 2. The focus of day 3 is deliverables, and establishing Key Performance Indicators (KPI's). The driving question for participant discussion is how do we measure success? I will explain the conceptual model that was used to guide this study. By explaining Herzberg's two-factory theory, management will understand the significance of creating conducive working conditions to reduce attrition. During this time, I will answer questions that will arise regarding the model and how it has been analyzed and applied to attrition. Management will then be assigned a task of establishing KPI's that recognize accomplishments, achievements and areas of growth for both

professional and promotional growth. Management will report out on their deliverables related to employee recognition at the next workshop, which will be held during the midterm break. It is expected that further professional development sessions for instructors will be held throughout the academic year and will be included in summer planning.

Project Evaluation Plan

The professional development seminar will include the dean, human resource representatives, novice, and experienced ESL instructors. The purpose of the seminar is to provide insight and discuss strategies for reducing attrition. An outcome-based survey will be given to participants at the end of each day to evaluate the facilitator, and the workshop. According to Cafferlla and Daffron (2013), surveys ensure goals and objectives are met through interaction and involvement, and provide opportunities to identify recommendations for future professional development seminars. Participants will be provided with a hard copy Likert Scale survey to complete at the end of each day. Surveys will be anonymous and participants will have the opportunity to write down topics not covered or those that they would like to see covered in the future.

Project Implications

Local Community

The goal of this project is to bring awareness to attrition and implement strategies that will reduce attrition. Managers will benefit from the results of this study and from collaborating with other stakeholders to create a more supportive work environment that leads to increased job satisfaction, which in turn reduces attrition. Instructors will be positively impacted because they are active participants empowered to implement change

and address the challenges they discussed with key stakeholders. Building awareness and cultivating best practices surrounding retention can improve the overall experience of working at the university.

Long-Term Outcomes

The results of this study cannot be generalized and used at other institutions. However, the strategies used to develop the 3-day professional development workshop could be used at other institutions to educate management on issues regarding attrition and strategies used to engage in effective communication. This study could prompt other institutions in Saudi Arabia to conduct further research examining the effects of attrition in the Middle East. The goal of this professional development workshop is to provide management with the knowledge of why ESL instructors are voluntarily resigning from their positions and providing them with the tools and data to reduce attrition.

Conclusion

In this section, I described a 3-day professional development workshop informed and designed from the results of my research. The workshop is designed for human resource representatives, university administrators, deans, and ESL instructors, and focuses on the goal of reducing attrition. Herzberg's two-factory theory was the conceptual framework for the workshop. In Section 4, I discuss reflections related to my research and the conclusion of this study

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusion

Introduction

I examined the perceptions of ESL instructors and administrators related to the problem of attrition by conducting semistructured interviews. Once the data were collected and coded, I designed a 3-day professional development workshop, based on the themes that emerged from the results, to effect a positive social change. In this section, I will discuss the strengths and limitations of the project. My study helped me understand the value of relationships and leadership styles and the effects both have on attrition and job satisfaction. The goal of understanding attrition was realized through communication, discussion, expertise levels, and skill acquisition.

Project Strengths

The project was designed based on the information collected and analyzed from the interviews I conducted with administrators and ESL instructors. I interviewed 4 administrators, 4 novice instructors, and 4 experienced ESL instructors, all of whom had worked at the university study site between 2 and 7 years. During the interviews, all participants provided candid answers and shared with me their perceptions of what leads to attrition. The responses of administrators and ESL instructors identified key factors surrounding attrition and highlighted the strengths and needs of stakeholders.

The project was developed to increase awareness of what influences attrition so that interventions to effect positive social change could be identified and implemented. Herzberg's two-factor theory served as the conceptual framework for this study and guided the development of the professional development workshop. Three full days of

focused collaboration provided the time needed for key stakeholders to collaborate on topics related to attrition and identify strategies and interventions for future implementation to address the problem. The strength of this project lay in the collaboration of key stakeholders employed by the university to jointly propose positive interventions to decrease attrition. Another area of strength was that this professional development will lay the foundation for a deeper examination of attrition, not just in the ESL program, but also across different programs within the institution.

Recommendation for Remediation of Limitations

The limitation of this project is based on the feasibility of implementation and time management. A workshop of this length requires planning and commitment. Planning a 3-day workshop at the busiest times of the year, beginning, mid-year and the end is difficult, as administrators and instructors are preparing for either the end of the academic year or the beginning of it. Although the strategies that will be presented in the workshop can be implemented immediately, the next meeting on deliverables will be held during the midterm break. Planning a one-day workshop during the midterm break and end of year would be a simpler task to undertake and one in which participants would more likely be prepared to discuss follow-up strategies.

Another limitation to this project is associated with data collection, which was employed at only one specific site. A follow-up study, for example, a 2 to 3-year longitudinal study, would provide additional data to determine what affect, if any, the professional development workshop has on reducing attrition. Without further research or

feedback, it is difficult to know whether the strategies developed will be influential in the reduction of attrition.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

Alternative Approaches to the Project

Monetary incentives have been widely used, but do not retain qualified and committed instructors for the long-term. Professional development is not mandatory nor is it seen as pertinent at this specific institution, and that could be due to instructors not receiving any form of credentialing or applicable experience they could use outside of SGU. The proposed project is meant for specific stakeholders and relies on commitment and accountability. An alternative to a 3-day professional development workshop would be a policy recommendation detailing challenges and solutions. The introduction of the policy would be delivered in the form of an informational session, with key stakeholders to achieve consensus and acceptance of a policy change.

Alternative Definitions of the Problem

Students are key stakeholders within any educational setting and an important element of any program is student success. In order to achieve success, institutions are responsible for not only staffing, but also retaining qualified and dedicated instructors. The basis of this research and the implementation of this project would allow administrators and instructors to contribute to building and retaining quality instructors. The project was developed to provide administrators and individuals responsible for hiring with data focused on why instructors leave; this information has not been available

or researched in the past. I have identified two alternative definitions of the problem; both potential definitions rely on communication and relationship management.

- 1. Attrition and its impact on to the success of the foundation year program.
- 2. Attrition and exit interviews: Can data inform interventions to positively affect turnover?

Alternative Solutions to the Local Problem

There could be alternative solutions to the problem. One would be the implementation of a council consisting of hiring managers, instructors and representatives from the dean's office. This council would meet bi-monthly to discuss strategies and solutions to obstacles that may lead to attrition. This may result in a timelier approach to implementation. Prior to each meeting a pre-reading of deliverables that have been met or that have been delegated will be sent out, along with the meeting agenda. This will facilitate time management and all participants attending the meeting being prepared to either present or discuss next steps.

Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change Scholarship

This has been one of the most challenging experiences that I have ever undertaken. When I started this study, I lacked the confidence as both a scholarly writer and a researcher. I began the prospectus with the delusion that I would complete this in two years. I did not understand the complexities of framing a research question, aligning a framework with the study itself or how to even write the problem statement. When the prospectus was approved, I regained my confidence. The process of writing my proposal

would take even more time than I had anticipated. The problem statement was my problem as I knew what I wanted to say, but could not frame it in a way that was both scholarly and comprehensible. Writing my proposal taught me how a review of literature is grounded in current research, how to analyze data and how important it is to write a precise and detailed methodology.

I chose a topic that I found relevant and current, one that once data was collected and analyzed would benefit the institution. I did not expect how much insight I would gain from participants' responses or how their response could inform me to develop a professional development workshop.

Project Development

As I developed this project, I had one thought, know my audience. These are adults with skills and expertise in a variety of areas. I would be delivering my results from this study in the form of professional development. I wanted to ensure that my interpretation of interviews was accurate and unbiased. I submitted drafts of research questions, but none were encapsulating what I was examining. My committee chair worked with me until I finally had questions that were directly related to attrition and somehow captured the culture of the institution as well. Preconceived notions in the form of drafts and having the ability to explain what you are examining and hope to achieve have to be checked when developing a project.

Leadership and Change

Writing this paper has given me insight into the type of leader I want to be.

Participants in my study spoke about a lack of leadership, or the lack of relationship they

had with management. It is important for me to surround myself with people who know that as a leader I am not just listening, but I am hearing what they are saying. A leader is current with trends, yet remains grounded in her mission. A leader should know that leading is not done alone, especially if the team is committed to the mission. Being a leader is not only about solving problems. This paper has taught me that a leader has to understand where the problem originates from and then work collaboratively to find solutions to change it for the better. I have used the skills I have acquired during this process to re-create my leadership style. Rather than just fixing the problem, I am more curious to find what initiated it. Furthermore, I include my colleagues to facilitate and influence change.

Self as a Scholar. In the process of working on my study, I was able to see how Herzberg's two-factory theory that was reported in 1959 still contributes to research in 2019. I have learned that I am disciplined and self-motivated when it comes to meeting self-proclaimed deadlines. I have become more comfortable speaking about my topic and sharing my process, while at the same time seeking out feedback from those who are educators, and who can view this from a different perspective. I have realized how dedicated and passionate I am about education and wanting to influence change.

In the last stage of the study I became aware that I prefer to discuss my thoughts in order to organize them and get feedback in the process. I also spoke to more people who are not just educators, but have been working in education for years to motivate and offer a view from a different lens. I enjoyed seeing how the coursework culminated in the project.

Self as a Developer. In the course of developing the professional development workshop I realized the strategies I wanted to implement are similar to the strategies I am currently developing in my organization. This was the first time that I was using data that I collected and analyzed to determine what type of project would have the most impact on stakeholders. I wanted the workshop to be based off my research and best practices, one that will continually improve due to further research and development.

I learned that the more information I took in, the more I sought out, I found myself getting lost in a variety of strategies that I wanted to implement. This has been a challenge especially when it came to developing the project. I have had to learn how to manage my ideas, goals, and outcomes. I realize that I like implementing new ideas, but also rely on colleagues to help me set limits on where a project begins and where it ends.

Self as a Practitioner. Progressing through this program has helped me to become assertive and confident in my professional role. I speak up more, and explain my thought process more clearly. I know that there will always be research to support my claims and inform me to feel comfortable speaking to others about current trends in leadership. Prior to this journey, I simply saw a problem and went straight to work to fix it. Now I am able dive deeper into understanding where that problem started and conduct research to provide viable solutions.

Communication is vital to successful planning and implementation. Using qualitative research allowed me to strengthen my listening skills, while teaching me not to interject my opinions or use leading questions as opposed to prompting questions. I

feel that my research has equipped me to be confident to present my findings at institutions surrounding attrition and solutions on how to reduce it.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

Attrition, job satisfaction, and motivation are terms I became familiar with during this process. I knew what each meant, but I did not know the impact it had on educators. Throughout this process I kept asking why would an institution not invest in instructors who are dedicated not only to their students, but generally to education. I started this study with one specific instructor in mind. She was one of the most talented ESL instructors I met. Her resignation prompted me to dig deeper into attrition and what it looks like from the perspective of others.

Throughout my research I read about different type of leadership styles. I read about awards, and incentives, and what drives individuals to perform. The one piece of research information that was consistent is that people need to feel valued in their organization. A manager referring to an instructor by name in the hallway or asking how she is doing are simple tasks that can lead to retention.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

Attrition at the education level has been researched and studied for several years and continues to be a problem that institutions are trying to manage. This qualitative study focused specifically on one institution in Saudi Arabia. I interviewed administrators and ESL instructors to discern the reasons ESL instructors leave the university.

Participants responses were supported by recent literature in attrition. Administrators may not be aware of all the reasons that participants spoke about, but they should be more

proactive in examining why instructors are leaving. There are potential changes that could be made if administrators decide to use the data collected from my study and implement my project. Changes in practice and implementation of new strategies may reduce attrition and improve job satisfaction.

The purpose of this study was to examine the perceptions of attrition from ESL instructors and administrators. A clear understanding of what attrition is and how it affects the morale of the program may prompt administrators to implement a retention strategy. Administrators who understand the importance of developing and maintaining a relationship with instructors will position the institution in developing effective strategies to retain valued employees (Milman & Dickson, 2014).

Instructors' responses during the interviews aided in the development of themes of relationship management, job dissatisfaction, and recognition. The identified themes were used to develop the professional development workshop. The results from this study are applicable to university administrators and leaders of organizations who want to create an environment in which their employees can thrive. As employees become comfortable and satisfied with their job, their level of commitment will increase, resulting in retention.

The potential for attrition reduction is not only about relationship and recognition, employers have to invest in their employees and this means providing training and development opportunities. Researchers have linked training and development with levels of employee satisfaction (Akhtar, Raza, Ashraf, Ahmed & Aslam, 2016). The results of

this study support the importance of providing training and development opportunities as well as providing avenues for professional growth.

Implementation of the professional development workshop will begin with at least 15 participants during a 3-day workshop. This may lead to further development and instead of workshops, quarterly meetings. Results from my study could affect positive social change by providing administrators with the knowledge and skills of strategies to reduce attrition. The results of this study could influence positive change in terms of relationship building and job satisfaction. The identified themes will allow administrators to focus on elements they were previously not aware of. This will inform them to implement my project or change the current structure. The data collected is relevant as it came directly from instructors.

There is potential for further research using a quantitative or mixed method study. Data can be collected from various program instructors, rather than limiting the study to one specific program. It is recommended for the institution to begin implementing exit interviews as a way to track and collect data surrounding resignations. This data could later be used to measure if current themes from this study have changed or still remain a challenge. I also recommend collecting data using different data collection techniques such as anonymous surveys; in this way participants will feel more at ease with their responses.

Conclusion

I was able research a topic that not only interested me, but also will benefit an institution that has had a significant impact on my life. Understanding why employees leave institutions should be a concern for management. Rather than focusing all efforts on recruitment, strategies should be in place to secure retention. It would benefit management to identify early on the challenges that instructors are facing and implement strategies to alleviate those hurdles. I examined the perception of attrition from administrators and instructors, and was surprised to find some consistency in their responses when it came to retention strategies. The professional development workshop was designed to address those responses while having a positive impact on reducing attrition.

Retaining instructors is a difficult task for managers, especially if they are unaware of underlying issues. Challenges exist to develop, implement and reinforce strategies that motivate, encourage, and support retention. Data presented in this study discuss the underlying issues at SGU that are forcing experienced instructors to voluntarily leave. Without this data, administrators could waste valuable time on developing strategies that do not pertain to the current issues, resulting in wasted efforts. This research and project align with the university's mission of being innovative and moving forward to improve stakeholder's success.

Reference

- Abdullah Al Mamun, C., & Nazmul Hasan, M. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in business organization: A conceptual view. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, *15*(1), 63-71. doi:10.21511/ppm.15(1).2017.06
- Abdul-Cader, A., & Anthony, P. J. (2014). Motivational issues of faculty in Saudi Arabia. *Higher Learning Research Communications*, *4*(4), 76-84. doi:10.18870/hlrc.v4i4.211
- Acheson, K., Taylor, J., & Luna, K. (2016). The burnout spiral: The emotion labor of five rural U.S. foreign language teachers. *The Modern Language Journal*, 100(2) 522-537. doi:10.1111/modl.12333
- Afshar, H. S., & Doosti, M. (2016, January). Investigating the impact of job satisfaction/dissatisfaction on Iranian English teachers' job performance. *Iranian Journal of Language Teaching*, 4(1), 97-115. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1127427.pdf
- Ahmed, M. A. (2016). The effects of Saudization on the universities: Localization in Saudi Arabia. *International Higher Education*, (86), 25-27. doi:10.6017/ihe.2016.86.9373
- Akafo, V., & Boateng, P. A. (2015). Impact of reward and recognition on job satisfaction and motivation. *European Journal Business and Management*, 7(2). Retrieved from https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/EJBM/article/viewFile/25095/25961

- Akhtar, Ch. S., Aamir, A., Khurshid, M. A., Abro, M. M. Q., & Hussain, J. (2015). Total rewards and retention: Case study of higher education institutions in Pakistan. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 210(2), 251–259. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.11.365
- Akhtar, N., Raza, H., Ashraf, A., Ahmed, A., & Aslam, N. (2016). Impact of training and development, performance appraisal and reward system on job satisfaction. *International Review of Management and Business Research*, *5*(2), 561-571. Retrieved from http://www.imbrjournal.com/index.php
- Akhtar, S. N., Hashmi, M. A., & Naqvi, S. I. H. (2010b). A comparative study of job satisfaction in public and private school teachers at secondary level. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *2*(2), 4222–4228. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.03.668
- AL-Hussami, M., Saleh, M. Y. N., AbdalLkader, R. H., & Mahadeen. I. (2011).

 Predictors of nursing faculty members' organizational commitment in governmental universities. *Journal of Nursing Management*, *19*(4), 556–566. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01148.x
- Alkahtani, A. Hussein (2015). Investigating factors that influence employees' turnover intention: A review of existing empirical works. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 10(12), 152-166. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v10n12p152
- Al-Jassem, D. (2013). 34% of expats want to leave. *Arab News*. Retrieved from http://www.arabnews.com

- Al-Seghayer, K. (2014). The actuality, inefficiency, and needs of EFL teacher-preparation programs in Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics & English Literature*, *3*(1), 143–151.
- Aladwan, K., Bhanugopan, R., & D'Netto, B. (2015). The effects of human resource management practices on employees' organizational commitment. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 23(3), 472–492. doi:10.1108/IJOA-11-2014-0822
- Albaqami, A. (2016). Determinants of turnover intention among faculty members in Saudi public universities (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from usir.salford.ac.uk
- Alhmoud, A., & Rjoub, H. (2019). Total rewards and employee retention in a Middle Eastern context. *Sage Journals*, 9(2), 1-13. doi:10.1177/2158244019840118
- AlKahtani, A. (2013). Employee emotional intelligence and employee performance in the higher education institutions in Saudi Arabia: A proposed theoretical framework. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *4*(9), 80–95. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com/journals/Vol 4 No 9 August 2013/7.pdf
- Allui, A., & Sahni, J. (2016). Strategic human resource management in higher education institutions: Empirical evidence from Saudi. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *235*, 361–371. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.11.044
- Alonderiene, R., & Majauskaite, M. (2016). Leadership style and job satisfaction in higher education institutions. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 30(1), 140–164. doi:10.1108/IJEM-08-2014-0106
- Alshanbri, N., Khalfan, M., Noor, M. A., Dutta, D., Zhang, K., & Magsood, T. (2015).

- Employees' turnover, knowledge management and human recourse management: A case of nitaqat program. *International Journal of Social Science and Humanity*, 5(8), 701–706. doi:10.7763/IJSSH. 2015. V5. 543
- Amanchukwu, R. N., Stanley, G. J., & Ololube, N. P. (2015). A review of leadership theories, principles and styles and their relevance to educational management. *Management*, *5*(1), 6-14. doi:10.5923/j.mm.20150501.02
- Amoatemaa, A.S., & Kyeremeh, D.D. (2016). Making employee recognition a tool for achieving improved performance: Implication for Ghanaian Universities. *Journal of Education Practice*, 7(34), 46-52. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1126683.pdf
- Arif, B., & Farooqi, Y. A. (2014). Impact of work life balance on job satisfaction and organizational commitment among university teachers: A case study of University of Gujrat, Pakistan. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Sciences and Engineering*, *5*(9), 24-29. Retrieved from http://www.ijmse.org
- Armstrong, L. (2014). A business model view of changing times in higher education.

 Retrieved from http://www.changinghighereducation.com
- Armstrong, M. (2009). Armstrong's handbook of human resource management (11th ed.). Retrieved from http://openlibrary.org/books/OL23149850M/Armstrong's_handbook_of_human_r esource_management_practice
- Aslami, H. (2013). Teacher attrition: Why secondary teachers leave the profession in Afghanistan (Capstone). Retrieved from

- scholarworks.umass.edu/cie_capstones/23
- Avolio, B. J., & Bass, B. M. (2004). *Multifactor leadership questionnaire*. Retrieved from https://www.statisticssolutions.com/multifactor-leadership-questionnairemlq/
- Azeem, S. M., & Akhtar, N. (2014). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment among public sector employees in Saudi Arabia. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, *5*(7), 127-133. Retrieved from https://ijbssnet.com/journals/Vol 5 No 7 June 2014/14.pdf
- Baah, K. D. (2011). Application of Frederick Herzberg's two-factor theory in assessing and understanding employee motivation at work: A Ghanaian perspective. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 3(9), 1-8. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/8120/9583968b25d38e08f353aef4004be7cd099c. pdf
- Babatunde, O., & Ikenga, E. (2015). The impact of leadership style on employee's performance in an organization. *Public Policy and Administration Research*, *5*(1), 193-205. Retrieved from https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/PPAR/article/view/19209
- Bacea, A. & Bordean, O.N. (2106). Employee job satisfaction and retention factors in outsourcing companies. *Managerial Challenges of the Contemporary Society*, 9(2), 97-101. Retrieved from https://econ.ubbcluj.ro/jmccs/
- Baker, J.A., Mohamad, Z.Z., & Sharmeela-Banu, S.A., (2015). Factors affecting female lecturer retention in private higher institution in Perak. *International Journal of*

- Academic Research in Business and Social Service, 5(1), 137-146. doi:10.6007/IJARBSS/v5-il/1410
- Baker, B.D. & Weber, M. (2016). State school finance inequities and the limits of pursuing teacher quality through departmental regulation. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 24(47), 1–36. doi:10.14507/epaa.24.2230
- Barth, P., Dillon, N., Hull, J., & Higgins, B. H. (2016). Fixing the holes in the teacher pipeline: An overview of teacher shortages. Retrieved from http://www.centerforpubliceducation.org
- Barrett, C. & Breyer, R. (2014). The influence of effective leadership on teaching and learning. *Journal of Research Initiatives*, *1*(2). 1-9. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.uncfsu.edu/jri
- Bhaskar-Shrinivas, P., Harrison, D. A., Shaffer, M. A., & Luk, D. M. (2005). Input-based and time-based models of international adjustment: Meta-analytic evidence and theoretical extensions. *Academy of Management Journal*, 48(2), 257–281. doi:10.5465/amj.2005.16928400
- Bhatti, O. K., Aslam, U. S., Hassan, A., & Sulaiman, M. (2016). Employee motivation an Islamic perspective. *Humanomics*, 32(1), 33-47. doi:10.1108/H-10-2015-0066
- BinBakr, M. B., & Ahmed, E. I. (2015). An empirical investigation of faculty members' organizational commitment in the kingdom of Saudi Arabia. *American Journal of Educational Research*, 3(8),1020-1026. doi:10.12691/education-3-8-12
- Black, S. A. (2015). Qualities of effective leadership in higher education. *Open Journal of Leadership*, 4(2), 54-66. doi:10.4236/ojl.2015.42006

- Blazer, D., & Kraft, M.A. (2017). Teacher and teaching effects on students' attitudes and behaviors. *Educational Evaluation Policy and Analysis 39*(1), 146-170. doi:10.3102%2F0162373716670260
- Blumenthal, A. J. (2002). English as a second language at the community college: An exploration of context and concerns. *New Directions for Community Colleges*, 2002(117), 45–54. doi:10.1002/cc.52
- Bogenschutz, M., Nord, D., & Hewitt, A (2015). Competency based training worker turnover in community sports for people with IDD. Results from a group randomized controlled study. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *53*(3), 182-195. doi:10.1352/1934-9556-53.3.182
- Bogler, R. (2002b). Two profiles of schoolteachers: A discriminant analysis of job satisfaction. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *18*(6), 665–673. doi:10.1016/S0742-051X(02)00026-4
- Bolman, L. G., & Deal, T. E. (2013). *Reframing organizations artistry, choice, and leadership* (5th ed.). Retrieved from http://samples.sainsburysebooks.co.uk
- Brittiler, M. C., & Thabet, R. A. (2015). Predictors of job satisfaction of faculty members of Al Ghad international colleges for health sciences. *Asia Pacific Journal of Multidisciplinary Research*, *3*(2), 63-68. Retrieved from http://www. http://www.apjmr.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/APJMR-2015-3-2-009-Predictors-of-Job-Satisfaction-of-Faculty-Members-of-Al-Ghad-International-Colleges-for-Health-Sciences-1.pdf
- Cader, A. A., & Anthony, P. J. (2014). Motivational issues of faculty in Saudi Arabia.

- *Higher Learning Research Communications*, *4*(4), 76-84. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1133390.pdf
- Caffarella, R.S., & Daffron, S.R., (2013). *Planning programs for adult learners: A practical guide* (3rd ed). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Callahan, J. J. (2016). Encouraging retention of new teachers through mentoring strategies. *The Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin International Journal for Professional Educators*, 83(1), 6–11. Retrieved from https://www.dkg.org//DKGDocs/2017_Jour_83-3_Systems-to-Address-Quality-Teaching.pdf
- Callier, J.G. (2016). Do transformational leaders affect turnover intentions and extra-role behaviors through mission valence? *American Review of Public Administration*, 46(2), 226-242. doi:10.1177/0275074014551751
- Carver-Thomas, D., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2017). Teacher turnover: Why it matters and what we can do about it. Retrieved from https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/default/files/product-files/Teacher Turnover REPORT.pdf
- Centra, J. A. (2002). Advice for new faculty members: Nihil Nimus (review). *The Journal of Higher Education*, 73(1), 186-188. doi:10.1353/jhe.2002.0003
- Chen, Y. C., Wang, W. C., & Chu, Y. C. (2010). Structural investigation of the relationship between working satisfaction and employee turnover. *The Journal of Human Resource and Adult Learning*, *6*(1), 41-50. Retrieved from http://www.hraljournal.com

- Chew, J., & Chan, C. C. (2008). Human resource practices, organizational commitment and intention to stay. *International Journal of Manpower*, *29*(6), 503-522.

 Retrieved from http://www.emeraldinsight.com/toc/ijm/29/6
- Collie, R. J., Shapka, J. D., Perry, N. E., & Martin, A. J. (2015). Teachers' beliefs about social-emotional learning: Identifying teacher profiles and their relations with job stress and satisfaction. *Learning and Instruction*, *39*, 148-157. doi:10.1016/j.learninstruc.2015.06.002
- Conrad, D. (2014). Workplace communication problems: Inquiries by employees and applicable solutions. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, *5*(4), 105-116.

 Retrieved from http://jbsq.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/June_2014_8.pdf
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Crouch, M., & McKenzie, H. (2006). The logic of small samples in interview-based qualitative research. *Social Science Information*, *45*(4), 483-499. doi:10.1177/0539018406069584
- DeNobile, J. J., & McCormick, J. (2008). Organizational communication and job satisfaction in Australian Catholic primary schools. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, *36*(1), 101-122. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1741143207084063
- DeStefano, J. (2002). Find, deploy, support, and keep the best teachers and school

- leaders. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED473407.pdf
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). (4th ed.). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Diaz Rico, L. T., & Smith, J. (1994). Recruiting and retaining bilingual teachers: A cooperative school community university model. *The Journal of Educational Issues of Language Minority Students*, 14, 225-268. Retrieved from http://www.ncela.us
- Diaz, Z., & Mahadevan, L. (2011.). Satisfying the demands for teachers. *Language Magazine*, 10(9), 28-31. Retrieved from https://www.languagemagazine.com/LangPages/LangMag May2011.pdf
- Dornyei, Z. (2001). Motivational strategies in the language classroom. Retrieved from https://erwinwidiyatmoko.files.wordpress.com/2012/01/motivational-strategies-in-the-language-classroom-by-zoltan-dornyei.pdf
- Dubai Inspection Bureau. (2011). *Private school inspections key finding 2010 2011*.

 Retrieved from https://www.khda.gov.ae
- Elnaga, A., & Imran, A. (2013). The effect of training on employee performance.

 *European Journal of Business and Management, 5(4), 137-147. Retrieved from https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/EJBM/article/view/4475
- Erturk, A. (2014) Influences of HR practices, social change, and trust on turnover intentions of public IT professionals. *Public Personnel Management*, *43*(1), 140-175. doi:10.1177/0091026013517875
- Eyupogly, S. Z., & Saher, T. (2009). The relationship between job satisfaction and

- academic rank: A study of academicians in Northern Cyprus. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *1*(1), 686-691. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2009.01.120
- Ezzeldin, A. G., & Nisar, T. (2017, April 10). Faculty perceptions of the importance of communication in Saudi Arabia higher education Najran community college:
 Case study. Cogent Business & Management, 4(1), 1-7
 doi:10.1080/23311975.2017.1319007
- Fako, T. T., Orlando, E. N., Wilson, D. R., Forcheh, N., & Linn, J. G. (2018). Factors associated with organizational commitment of academic employees in Botswana.

 International Journal of Educational Administration and Policy Studies, 10(6), 56-64. doi:10.5897/IJEAPS2017.0563
- Farrell, T. S. (2016). Surviving the transition shock in the first year of teaching through reflective practice. *System*, *61*, 12-19. doi:10.1016/j.system.2016.07.005
- Fattash, M. M. (2013). Demotivating factors of university ESL teachers. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *3*(19), 125-132. Retrieved from http://www.ijhssnet.com/journals
- Feng, L. (2014). Teacher placement, mobility, and occupational choices after teaching. *Educational Economics*, 22(1), 22-47. doi:10.1080/09645292.2010.511841
- Figueroa, O. (2015). The influences impacting staff turnover in higher education. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 5(4), 86-93. doi:10.5539/jms.v5n4p86
- Fisher, J.G. (2015). Strategic reward and recognition: Improving employee performance through non-monetary incentives. United Kingdom: Kogan Page Limited
- Fullan, M. (2011). Change leader: Learning to do what matters most. San Francisco, CA:

- Jossey-Bass/Wiley.
- Gaffney, S. (2005). Career development as a retention and succession planning tool.

 **Journal for Quality and Participation, 28(3), 7-10. Retrieved from http://asq.org/pub/jqp/past/2005/fall/index.html
- Garcia, P. B. (2015). Factors affecting job retention: Basis for retention management model. *International Journal of Education and Research*, *3*(4), 381-392 Retrieved from http://www.ijern.com
- Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report*, *20*(11), 1772–1789. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tgr
- George, C. (2015). Retaining professional workers: What makes them stay? *Employee Relations*, *37*(1), 102-121. doi:10.1108./ER-10-2013-0151
- Ghanizadeh, A., & Jahedizadeh, S. (2015). Demotivators, burnout and language achievement in an Iranian EFL context. *The Journal of Teaching Language Skills*, 34(3), 61-85. Retrieved from http://jtls.shirazu.ac.ir
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. L. (2012). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics 20*(1), 18-29. doi:10.1177/0969733012452684
- Giertz, K. (2016). *Quality education: The case of teacher motivation and attrition in Ethiopia* (Master's dissertation). Retrieved from http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1040886&dswid=-6304
- Global innovation index report 2009-2010. (2010). Retrieved from

- https://www.globalinnovationindex.org/userfiles/file/GII-2009-2010-Report.pdf
- Greenhaus, J., & Allen, T. D. (2012b). Work-family balance: A review and extension of the literature. In J. Greenhaus & T. D. Allen (Eds.), *Handbook of occupational health psychology* (2nd ed., pp. 165–183). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/259280583_Work-Family Balance A Review and Extension of the Literature
- Guglielmi, D., Bruni, I., Simbula, S., Fraccaroli, F., & Depolo, M. (2016). What drives teacher engagement: A study of different age cohorts. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, *31*(3), 323-340. doi:10.1007/s10212-015-0263-8
- Gupta, M., & Gehlawat, M. (2013, January). Job satisfaction and work motivation of secondary school teachers in relation to some demographic variables: A comparative study. *Educational Confab*, *2*(1), 10-19. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/315461390
- Habhab, H., & Smith, M. (2014). Retaining academics in private universities in Saudi

 Arabia the effect of gender and nationality. *Semantic Scholar*. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/410a/9836c9ebc603562a4a515c14d577537fd5ec. pdf
- Hafeez, U., & Akbar, W. (2015). Impact of training on employee's performance (Evidence from pharmaceutical companies in Karachi, Pakistan). *Business Management and Strategy*, *6*(1), 49-64. Retrieved from http://www.macrothink.org/journal/index.php/bms/article/view/7804
- Hanaysha, J. (2016, August 19). Examining the effects of employee empowerment,

- teamwork, and employee training on organizational commitment. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 229(19), 298-306. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.07.140
- Hanaysha, J., Tahir, P.R. (2016). Examining the effects of employee empowerment, teamwork, and employee training on job satisfaction. *Procedia Social Behavioral Sciences*, *219*, 272-282. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.016
- Hanneman, J. M. (2014). We can't keep giving: An analysis of the prevalence and consequence of educators' unpaid labor (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://academicworks.cuny.edu
- Hee Yoon, M., Hyun Seo, J., & Seog Yoon, T. (2004). Effects of contact employee supports on critical employee responses and customer service evaluation. *Journal of Services Marketing*, *18*(5), 395-412. doi:10.1108/08876040410548311
- Henry, G. T., Bastian, K. C., & Fortner, C. K. (2011). Stayers and leavers early-career teacher effectiveness and attrition. *Educational Researcher*, 40(6), 271-280. doi:10.3102/0013189X11419042
- Herzberg, F. (1987). One more time: How do you motivate employees? *Harvard Business Review*, 5-16. Retrieved from http://www.facilitif.eu
- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., & Snyderman, B. B. (1959). *The motivation to work*.

 Retrieved from
 - http://garfield.library.upenn.edu/classics1984/A1984SP02300001.pdf
- Hettiarachchi, S. (2013). English language teacher motivation in Sri Lankan public schools. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 4(1), 1-11.

- doi:10.4304/jltr.4.1.1-11
- Ho, C. L., & Au, W. T. (2006). Teaching satisfaction scale: Measuring job satisfaction of teachers. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 66(1), 172-185. doi:10.1177/0013164405278573
- Hsieh, M. F. (2007). Profitability and compatibility factors explaining faculty's post-adoption behaviors of teaching and learning innovations in research one universities. Retrieved from https://etda.libraries.psu.edu/files/final_submissions/4460
- Hurren, B. L. (2006). The effects of principals' humor on teachers' job satisfaction. *Educational Studies*, 32(4), 373-385. doi:10.1080/03055690600850321
- Imran, R., Allil, K., & Mahmoud, A. B. (2017). Teacher's turnover intentions: Examining the impact of motivation and organizational commitment. *International Journal of Educational Management*, *31*(6), 828-842. doi: 10.1108/IJEM-05-2016-0131
- Ingersoll, R., & Smith, T. M. (2003). The wrong solution to the teacher shortage.

 *Educational Leadership, 60(8), 30-33. Retrieved from https://repository.upenn.edu/gse_pubs/126
- Iliya, A., & Ifeoma, L. G. (2015). Assessment of teacher motivation approaches in the less developed countries. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 6 (22), 10-17.
 Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1079453.pdf
- Institutional review board for ethical standards. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://academicguides.waldenu.edu
- Iqbal, A. (2010). Employee turnover: Causes, consequences and retention strategies in

- the Saudi organizations. *The Business Review, 16*(2), 275-281.
- Iqbal, S., & Hashmi, M.S. (2015). Impact of perceived organizational support on employee retention with mediating role of psychological empowerment. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences*, *9*(1), 18-34. Retrieved from http://www.jespk.net/publications/219.pdf
- Islam, G. (2013). Recognizing employees; Reification, dignity and promoting care in management. *Cross Cultural Management: An International Journal*, 20(2), 235-250. doi:10.1108/13527601311313490
- Iwu, C. G., Ezeudugi, I. O., Iwu, I. C., Ikebuaku, K., & Tengeh, R. K. (2018). Achieving quality education by understanding teacher job satisfaction determinants. *Social Sciences*, 7(2), 2-13. doi:10.3390/socsci7020025
- Johnston, B. (1997). Do EFL teachers have careers? *TESOL Quarterly*, *31*(4), 681-712. doi:10.2307/3587756
- Jong, E., Harper, C & Coady, M. (2013). Enhanced knowledge and skills for elementary mainstream teachers of English language learners. *Theory into Practice*, *52*(2), 89-97. doi:10.1080/00405841.2013.770326
- Kamel, S. (2014). Education in the Middle East: Challenges and opportunities. In:

 Business and education in the Middle East. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

 doi:10.1057/9781137396969 9
- Keller, K. (2018). Building the case for succession planning in higher education: A study of succession planning pilots within the Minnesota state colleges and universities system (Doctoral dissertation, St. Cloud State University)1-202.

- Kennedy, M. (2016). How does professional development improve teaching? *Review of Educational Research*, 86(4), 945-980. doi:10.3102/0034654315626800
- Kessler, S. & Snodgrass, A. (2014). The house that affirmation builds. *Educational Leadership*, 71(5), 60-63. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/feb14/vol71/num05/toc.aspx
- Kim, T. Y., & Kim, Y. K. (2015). Initial career motives and demotivation in teaching

 English as a foreign language: Cases of Korean EFL teachers. *Porta Linguarum*,

 24, 77-92. Retrieved from

 https://www.ugr.es/~portalin/articulos/PL_numero24/6TAE.pdf
- Knight, P. T., & Trowler, P. R. (2000). Academic work and quality. *Quality in Higher Education*, 6(2), 109-114. doi:10.1080/713692736
- Konoske-Graf, A., Partelow, L., & Benner, M. (2016). To attract great teachers, school districts must improve their human capital systems. Retrieved from https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-k12/reports/2016/12/22/295574/to-attract-great-teachers-school-districts-must-improve-their-human-capital-systems/
- Koranteng, F.A. (2014). Assessing talent management as a tool for employee retention a case study of procredit savings and loan limited Kumasi. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/123456789/7636
- Kwegyir-Aggrey, P. (2016). Assessment of staff retention in private universities in Ghana: A study of the Perez university college, Winneba. *Journal of Education*

- and e-Learning Research, 3(4),130-137. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1148512.pdf.
- Labov, B. (1997). Inspiring employees the easy way. *Incentive*, *171*(10), 114-118.

 Retrieved from http://www.incentivemag.com
- Larking, I. M., Brantley-Dias, L., & Lokey-Vaga, A. (2016, September). Job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and turnover intention of online teachers in the K-12 Setting. *Online Learning*, *20*, 26-51. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1113339.pdf
- Lawler, E. E. (1973). Motivation in work organizations. [Kindle]. Retrieved from https://archive.org/details/motivationinwork00lawl
- Lawrence, J., Ott, M., & Bell, A. (2012). Faculty organizational commitment and citizenship. *Research in Higher Education*, *53*(3), 325-352. doi:10.1007/s11162-011-9230-7
- Learning Policy Institute. (2017). *The role of principals in addressing teacher shortages* (research brief). Palo Alto, CA: Learning Policy Institute.
- Locke, E. A. (1976). The nature and causes of job satisfaction. *Handbook of Industrial* and *Organizational Psychology* (1st ed.). Chicago, IL: Rand McNally.
- Lodico, M., Spaulding, D., & Voegtle, K. (2010). *Methods in educational research:*From theory to practice (2nd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Long, C. (2015). Teacher turnover is much lower than you probably think NEA today.

 Retrieved from http://neatoday.org/2015/05/13/teacher-turnover-is-much-lower-than-you-probably-think/

- Luecke, R. (2002). *Hiring and keeping the best people*. Boston: Harvard Business School Publishing.
- Lund, T. (2007). The qualitative quantitative distinction: Some comments.

 Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, 49(2) 115-132.

 doi:10.1080/00313830500048790
- Luthra, A., & Dahiya, R. (2015). Effective leadership is all about communicating effectively: Connecting leadership and communication. *International Journal of Management & Business studies*, *5*(3), 43-48. Retrieved from https://www.mcgill.ca/engage/files/engage/effective_leadership_is_all_about_communicating effectively luthra dahiya 2015.pdf
- Mahzan, N. & Abidin, A.Z. (2017). Examining navigators' job satisfaction in royal

 Malaysian air force through the lens of Herzberg's motivation hygiene theory. *Journal of Economics, Business, and Management, 3*(8), 758-762.

 doi:10.7763/joebm.2015.v3.281
- Malik, N. (2010). A study on motivational factors of the faculty members at university of Baluchistan. *Serbian Journal of Management*, *5*(1), 143-149. Retrieved from http://www.sjm06.com/SJM%20ISSN1452-4864/5_1_2010_May_1-188/5_1_143-149.pdf
- Mangaleswarasharma, R. (2017). Teacher motivation and job satisfaction: A study on teachers in three districts in Northern Sri Lanka (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net
- Marinell, W. H., & Coca, V. M. (2013). Who stays and who leaves? Findings from a

- three-part study of teacher turnover in NYC middle schools. *Journal of School Leadership*, 26, 1-43. Retrieved from https://steinhardt.nyu.edu
- Mark, A. (2015). Factors influencing teachers' motivation and job performance in Kibaha district, Tanzania (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://repository.out.ac.tz/1413/1/Mark_Agnes_-_DESSERTATION-_24-11-2015.pdf
- Maugi, R.A, Soormro, H.J., Chumro, I.A, Abidi, A.R. & Jalbani, A.A. (2013). A study of job satisfaction among non PhD faculty in universities. *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research*, 1(7), 83-90. Retrieved from http://www.ajbmr-16-25i1n7a9.pdf
- McAuliffe, E., Manafa, O., Maseko, F., Bowie, C., & White, E. (2009). Understanding job satisfaction amongst mid-level cadres in Malawi: The contribution of organizational justice. *Reproductive Health Matters*, *17*(33), 80-90. doi:10.1016/S0968-8080(09)33443-6
- Meador, D. (2016). *Ten ways principals can provide ongoing, collaborative teacher support*. Retrieved from https://www.thoughtco.com/suggestions-for-principals-to-provide-teacher-support-3194528
- Meaghan, S., & Bonitas, N. (2002). Voluntary turnover: knowledge management friend or foe? *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, *3*(3), 303-322. doi:10.1108/14691930210435633
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Milman, A. & Dickson, D. (2014). Employment characteristics and retention predictors among hourly employees in US theme parks and attraction. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 26(3), 447-469. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-04-2013-0178
- Ministry of Education. (2010). *Annual report for the year 2009/2010*. Retrieved from https://www.moe.gov.sa/en/Pages/default.aspx
- Mohammad Mosadegh Rad, A., & Hossein Yarmohammadian, M. (2006). A study of relationship between managers' leadership style and employees' job satisfaction. *Leadership in Health Services*, *19*(2), 11–28. doi:10.1108/13660750610665008
- Makena Muguongo, M. (2015). Effects of compensation on job satisfaction among secondary school teachers in Maara Sub County of Tharaka Nithi County, Kenya. *Journal of Human Resource Management*, *3*(6), 47. doi:10.11648/j.jhrm.20150306.11
- Muindi, F. K. (2011). The relationship between participation in decision making and job satisfaction among academic staff in the school of business, university of Nairobi. *Journal of Human Resources Management Research*, 1-34. Retrieved from https://ibimapublishing.com/articles/JHRMR/2011/246460/246460.pdf
- Ndungu, D. N. (2017b). The effects of rewards and recognition on employee performance in public educational institution: A case of Kenyatta University, Kenya. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research: Administration and Management*, 17(1), 43–68. Retrieved from http://ir-

- library.ku.ac.ke/handle/123456789/18189
- Nelson, B. (2003). *The 1001 reward and recognition: You get what you reward.* New York: Workman.
- Ng'ethe, J. M., Iravo, M. E., & Namusonge, G. S. (2012). Influence of leadership style on academic staff retention in public universities in Kenya. *International Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, *3*(21), 297–302. Retrieved from http://ijbssnet.com/journals/Vol 3 No 21 November 2012/31.pdf
- Njoroge, C. N., & Yazdanifard, R. (2014). The impact of social and emotional intelligence on employee Moticatinh in a multigenerational workplace. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research: An Administration and Management, 14*(3), 31–36. Retrieved from https://journalofbusiness.org/index.php/GJMBR/article/view/1255/1165
- Nkosi, S. M. (2015). Effects of training on employee commitment, retention and performance: A case study of a local municipality in South Africa. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 7(15), 104–108. Retrieved from https://www.iiste.org
- Northouse, P. G. (2013). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Nwokocha, I. (2015). Employers and the enhancement of industrial harmony in private sector organizations in Nigeria. *Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 20(5), 28–35. Retrieved from http://www.iosrjournals.org/iosr-jhss/papers/Vol20-issue5/Version-2/E020522835.pdf

- O'Meara, K., Rivera, M., Kuvaeva, A., & Corrigan, K. (2017). Faculty learning matters:

 Organizational conditions and contexts that shape faculty learning. *Innovative Higher Education*, *42*(4), 355–376. doi:10.1007/s10755-017-9389-8
- Okeke, C. I., & Mtyuda, P. N. (2017). Teacher job dissatisfaction: Implications for teacher sustainability and social transformation. *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability*, 19(1), 54–68. doi:10.1515/jtes-2017-0004
- Okwaraji, F. E., & Aguwa, E. N. (2014). Burnout, psychological distress and job satisfaction among secondary school teachers in Enugu, South East Nigeria. *Journal of Psychiatry*, 18(1), 14-66. doi:10.4172/Psychiatry.1000198
- Oladapo, V. (2014). The impact of talent management on retention. *Journal of Business*Studies Quarterly, 5(3), 20–36. Retrieved from

 http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.653.4143&rep=rep1&t

 ype=pdf
- Onwuka, M. E., Oforegbu, C., Dibua, E. C., & Ezeanyim, E. (2017). Conflict management and employee turnover in selected private universities in Anambra State. *International Journal of Management Sciences and Business Research*, 6(1), 58-69. Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2912731
- Ozturk, E. O. (2015). A qualitative study on the motivation of Turkish EFL teachers working at state universities. *Journal of Theory and Practice in Education*, *11*(4), 1436–1453. Retrieved from https://dergipark.org.tr/download/article-file/63517 Pang, K., & Lu, C.S. (2018). Organizational motivation, employee job satisfaction and

- organizational performance. *Maritime Business Review*, *3*(1), 36–52. doi:10.1108/MABR-03-2018-0007
- Patton, M. Q. (2014). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). Retrieved from https://us.sagepub.com/en-us/nam/qualitative-research-evaluation-methods/book232962
- Paulsen, M. B., & Smart, J. C. (2001). *The finance of higher education: theory, research, policy and practice*. Retrieved from https://epdf.pub/the-finance-of-higher-education-theory-research-policy-and-practice.html
- Paulsen, T. & Martin, R. (2014). Supervision of agricultural education in secondary schools: What do teachers want from their principals? *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *55*(2), 136-153. doi:10.5032/jae.2014.02136
- Perrachione, B. A., Rosser, V. J., & Peterson, G. J. (2008). Why do they stay?

 Elementary teachers' perceptions of job satisfaction and retention. *Professional Educator*, *32*(2), 1–19. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ862759.pdf
- Perry, S. J., Hunter, E. M., & Currall, S. C. (2016). Managing the innovators:

 Organizational and professional commitment among scientists and
 engineers. *Research Policy*, 45(6), 1247–1262. doi:10.1016/j.respol.2016.03.009
- Pierce, D. (2015). Guiding light. How community college presidents can ensure their vision lives on, even after they move on. *Community College Journal*, 26–52.

 Retrieved from http://www.ccjournal-digital.com/ccjournal/20150708?pg=28#pg28

- Policy for hiring competencies and experiences for PNU's PYP English program [Policy brief]. (2016). Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: Princess Noura University
- Prince Mohammad Bin Fahd University. (2013). Self study report for institutional accreditation. Retrieved from http://pmu.edu.sa
- Princess Noura bint Abdulrahman website. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://www.eujournal.org
- Prokop, A., & Illingworth, S. (2016). Aiming for long-term, objective-driven science communication in the UK. *F1000Research*, *5*, 1540. doi:10.12688/f1000research.9079.2
- Purohit, M. (2016). A study on employee turnover in IT sector with special emphasis on Wipro and Infosys. *Journal of Business and Management*, *18*(4), 47–51.

 Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/fe78/6b3d2ee1d5bcde282e29952fa72ae1e190d2.

 pdf
- Quiambao, D. T., & Nuqul, A. (2017, February 3rd). Determinants of organizational commitment among the faculty members of private tertiary institution. *Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities Research*, *3*(1), 1-14. Retrieved from http://jsshr.anveshika.org
- Rahim, M. A., & Daud, W. N. W. (2013). Rewards and motivation among administrators of University of Sultan Zainal Abidin (UNISZA): An empirical study. *International Journal of Business and Society*, *14*(2), 265–286. Retrieved from http://www.ijbs.unimas

- Raziq, A., & Maulabakhsh, R. (2015). Impact of working environment on job satisfaction. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 23, 717–725. doi:10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00524-9
- Richardson, E. (2014). *Teacher motivation in low income contexts: An actionable*framework for intervention, teacher motivation working group. Retrieved from http://www.teachersforefa.unesco.org/tmwg/blog2/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Teacher-Motivation-in-Low-Income-Contexts.pdf
- Sadeghi, K., & Sa'adatpourvahid, M. (2016). EFL teachers' stress and job satisfaction:

 What contribution can teacher education make. *Iranian Journal of Language Teaching Research*, 4(3), 76–95. Retrieved from

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1127347.pdf
- Sahl, A. (2017). The importance of faculty appreciation and recognition: A case study of one institution. *Humboldt Journal of Social Relations*, *1*(39), 246–259. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.humboldt.edu/hjsr/vol1/iss39/22/
- Sali, P., & Kecik, I. (2018). Challenges of first years of teaching in Turkey: Voices of novice EFL teachers. *English Language Teaching*, 11(4), 117-131.doi:10.5539/elt.v11n4p117
- Salman M, N. I. (2015). Measuring the job satisfaction level of the academic staff. *Journal of Business & Financial Affairs*, 4(2). doi:10.4172/2167-0234.1000142
- Samuel, Michael O., & Chipunza, C. (2013). Attrition and retention of senior academics at institutions of higher learning in South Africa: The strategies, complexities and

- realities. *Journal of Social Sciences*, *35*(2), 97–109. doi:10.1080/09718923.2013.11893151
- Santa Cruz, F. G., López-Guzmán, T., & Cañizares, S. M. S. (2013). Analysis of job satisfaction in the hotel Industry: A study of hotels in Spain. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 13(1), 63–80. doi:10.1080/15332845.2013.807394
- Sathye, M. (2004). Leadership in higher education: A qualitative study. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 5(3), 2-14. doi:10.17169/fqs-5.3.571
- Saudi Arabia's 2014 budget emphasizes long-term development Retrieved from http://www.us-sabc.org
- Schaefer, J. (2019b). The root causes of low employee morale. Retrieved July 19, 2019, from https://www.amanet.org/articles/the-root-causes-of-low-employee-morale/
- Scheopner, A. J. (2010). Irreconcilable differences: Teacher attrition in public and catholic schools. *Educational Research Review*, *5*(3), 261–277. doi:10.1016/j.edurev.2010.03.001
- Sharanya, T. (2016). A study on factors influencing on employee retention in CMR college of engineering & technology. *Sumedha Journal of Management*, *5*(3), 133–144. Retrieved from http://www.indianjournals.com/ijor.
- Selden, S.C., & Sowa, J.E. (2015). Voluntary turnover in nonprofit human service organization: The impact of high performance work practices. *Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 39*(3), 182-207. doi:10.1080/23303131.2015.1031416

- Shockley, R., Watlington, E., & Felsher, R. (2013). Out on a limb. The efficacy of teacher induction in secondary schools. *National Association of Secondary School Principals*, *97*(4), 350-377. doi:10.1177/0192636513510595
- Schuler, R. S., & Jackson, S. E. (2006). *Managing human resources* (11th ed.). Retrieved from https://s3.amazonaws.com/tess53/managing%20human%20resources%2011th%2 0edition.pdf
- Sharma, R. D., & Jyoti, J. (2009). Job satisfaction of university teachers: An empirical study. *Journal of Services Research*, *9*(2), 51–80. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/magazine/1P3-1866796061/job-satisfaction-of-university-teachers-an-empirical
- Sherin, M. G., & Drake, C. (2000). Identifying patterns in teachers' use of a reform-based elementary mathematics curriculum (Master thesis). Retrieved from https://www.gse.upenn.edu
- Skaalvik, E.M., & Skaalvik, S. (2014). Teacher self-efficacy and perceived autonomy.

 Relations with teacher engagement, job satisfaction, and emotional exhaustion.

 Psychological Reports 114(1), 68-77. doi:10.2466/14.02.PRO.114k14wo
- Smith, B. S. (2016). The role of leadership style in creating a great school. *SELU**Research Review Journal, 1(1), 65-78. Retrieved from https://selu.usask.ca
- Spendlove, M. (2007). Competencies for effective leadership in higher education. *The International Journal of Educational Management*, 407-417. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org

- Stadler, K. (2011). Talent review: The key to effective succession management. *Business Strategy Series*, 12(5), 264-271. doi:10.1108/17515631111166906
- Surbhi, J. (2013a). The causes of turnover intention in the employees of educational institutes: an observation. *Tactful Management Research Journal*, *I*(7), 2–4.

 Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.300.8962&rep=rep1&t ype=pdf
- Suslu, S. (2006). Motivation of ESL teachers. *The Internet TESL Journal*, *12*(1).

 Retrieved from http://iteslj.org/Articles/Suslu-TeacherMotivation.html
- Taharim, N. F., Jayasuriya, D. P., Xiang, L. W., & Mazhar, S. F. (2017). Clerical work for school teachers: A burden or a responsibility? *Journal of Humanities*, *Language, Culture and Business*, *1*(3), 26-36. Retrieved from www.icohlcb.com
- Tambunan, A. R., Hamied, F. A., & Sundayana, W. (2016). The urban EFL teachers' motivation in Indonesia: Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory and Herzberg's motivational-hygiene theory. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *6*(9), 116–122. Retrieved from http://www.ijhssnet.com/journals/Vol 6 No 9 September 2016/17.pdf
- Tampubolon, T. S. (2017). Demotivating factors in English language teaching process among junior high school teachers. Retrieved from http://repository.unja.ac.id/1352/1/ARTIKEL%20TIRTA.pdf
- Thaden, E., Jacobs-Priebe, L., & Evans, S. (2010). Understanding attrition and predicting employment durations of former staff in a public social service

- organization. *Journal of Social Work*, *10*(4), 407–435. doi:10.1177/1468017310369606
- Thibodeaux, A.K., Labat, M.B., Lee, D.E., & Labat, C.A. (2015). The effects of leadership and high stakes testing on teacher retention. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, 19(1) 227-249. Retrieved from https://www.abacademies.org/articles/aeljvol19no12015.pdf
- Thomas, N.J., Brown, E. & Thomas, L.Y. (2017). Employee satisfaction and turnover intention. A comparative analysis between front of the house and back of the house employees in casino entertainment venues. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *16*(1), 71-87. doi:10.1080.15332845.2016.1202065
- Tehseen, S., & Ul Hadi, N. (2015). Factors influencing teachers' performance and retention. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 233–244. doi:10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n1p233
- Teoh, K. R.-H., Coyne, I., Devonish, D., Leather, P., & Zarola, A. (2016). The interaction between supportive and unsupportive manager behaviors on employee work attitudes. *Personnel Review*, 45(6), 1386–1402. doi:10.1108/PR-05-2015-0136
- Ton, Z., & Huckman, R. S. (2008). Managing the impact of employee turnover on performance: The role of process conformance. *Organization Science*, *19*(1), 56–68. doi:10.1287/orsc.1070.0294
- Trace, N. E. (2016). The relationship among teacher job satisfaction, trust in the principal, and principal support (Doctoral dissertation, College of William and Mary). Retrieved from https://scholarworks.wm.edu

- Tse, H. H. M., Huang, X., & Lam, W. (2013). Why does transformational leadership matter for employee turnover? A multi-foci social exchange perspective. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 24(5), 763–776. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.07.005
- Tupy, S. (2017). Increasing English as a second language teacher retention school of education student capstone projects. 39. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse_cp/39
- Vasudevan, H. (2014). Examining the relationship of training on job satisfaction and organizational effectiveness. *International Journal of Management and Business Research*, *4*(3), 185-202. Retrieved from http://ijmbr.srbiau.ac.ir/article 2874 473.html
- Veliu, L., Manxhari, M., Demiri, V., & Jahaj, L. (2017). The influence of leadership styles on employee's performance. *Vadyba Journal of Management*, *31*(2), 59-69. Retrieved from https://www.ltvk.lt/file/zurnalai/08.pdf
- Vidyasagar, K., & Babu, N. K. (2016). A study on faculty retention: With reference to private degree colleges in Visakhapatnam. *International Journal of Academic Research*, *3*, 122-131. Retrieved from http://www.ijar.org.in
- Wadhwa, D. S., & Vergehse, M. (2015). Impact of employee empowerment on job satisfaction and organizational commitment: An empirical investigation with special reference to selected cement industry in Chhattisgarh. *International Journal in Management and Social Science*, *3*, 280-286. Retrieved from http://www.ijmr.net.in
- Wakabi, B. M. (2016). Leadership style and staff retention in organizations.

- *International Journal of Science and Research*, *5*(1),412-416. Retrieved from https://www.ijsr.net
- Weightman, J. (1999). The employee motivation audit: An eight-step audit to determine how well equipped you are to win and retain employee commitment. Cambridge Strategy Publications Limited.
- Weissbourd, R., & Jones, S. (2014). Special topic / circles of care. *Educational Leadership*, 71(5), 42-47. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/feb14/vol71/num05/Circles-of-Care.aspx
- Werang, B. R., & Pure, E. A. (2017). Designing strategy for improving teacher's organizational commitment in the remote elementary schools of Merauke district, Papua, Indonesia. *International Journal of Research Studies in Education*, 7(1), 15-28. doi:10.5861/ijrse.2017.1702
- White, P. (2015). Appreciating your staff makes sound business sense. *Human Resource*Management International Digest, 23(2), 31-33. doi:10.1108/HRMID-01-20150014
- Whitaker, T. (2011). What great principals do differently: Eighteen things that matter most (2nd ed). New York: Routledge. doi:10.4324/9781315854823
- Whitaker, T., Whitaker, B., & Lumpa, D. (2009). *Motivating and inspiring teachers: The educational leaders' guide for building staff morale* (2nd ed). Larchmont, NY: Eye on Education.
- Wong, E., & Heng, T. (2009). Case study of factors influencing job satisfaction in two

- Malaysian universities. *International Business Research*, 2(2), 86-98. Retrieved from
- $https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/c3e6/b0ed97e4d37b7802512a0b37661f94d7c9bd\\.pdf$
- Yang, J. T., Wan. C.S., & Fu, Y.J. (2013) Qualitative examination of employee turnover and retention strategies in international tourist hotels in Taiwan. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *31*(3), 837-848.

 doi:10.1016/j/ijhm.2011.10.001
- Yeasmin, S., & Rahman, K. F. (2012). Triangulation research method as the tool of social science research. *Bangladesh University Professional Journal*, *1*(1), 154–163.

 Retrieved from

 https://bup.edu.bd/assets/uploads/journal_content_file/1511259502154-163.pdf
- Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case study research: Design and methods* (4th ed.). Retrieved from https://bup.edu.bd/assets/uploads/journal_content_file/1511259502154-163.pdf
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations. *Evaluation*, *19*(3), 321–332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2016). *Qualitative research from start to finish* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Guilford Publications. doi:10.1111/fcsr.12144
- Yousef, D. A. (2000). Organizational commitment: a mediator of the relationships of leadership behavior with job satisfaction and performance in a non□western

country. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *15*(1), 6–24. doi:10.1108/02683940010305270

Zopiatis, A., Constanti, P., & Theocharous, A. L. (2014). Job involvement, commitment, satisfaction and turnover: Evidence from hotel employees in Cyprus. *Tourism Management*, 41, 129–140. doi:10.1016/j.tourman.2013.09.013

Appendix A: Professional Development Project

Retention Strategies at SGU

Purpose: The purpose of this professional development workshop is to promote the collaboration of key stakeholders to develop strategies aimed at reducing teacher attrition through improved long-term planning, the implementation of incentives to recognize exemplary professional practice, and interventions to improve leadership styles. This workshop is designed for administrators, deans, ESL instructors and the head of human resource.

Goals: The overarching goals of the 3-day professional development workshop are to discuss the results of the study with school leadership and instructors and to develop strategies to increase retention and reduce attrition. Training and discussions will focus on (a) transformational leadership (b) recognition and awards and (c) job dissatisfaction.

Outcome: The desired outcome of this workshop is to provide participants with the

Target Audience: Administrators, ESL instructors, Deans and Head of Human Resource **Curriculum Methods**: Presentations will include:

- Small and large round table discussions
- Small group work that will entail problem solving.

necessary skills and strategies to reduce attrition of ESL instructors.

 At the end of each day participants will be asked to evaluate the effectiveness of the session by completing an outcome-based survey that will assess if goals have been met.



Purpose and Goals of this Workshop

- The purpose of this workshop is to have a clear understanding of what attrition is and how it has been impacting the English program.
- These questions were used during the interview process with participants.
 - What are novice ESL instructor's perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected university in Saudi Arabia?
 - What are experienced ESL instructor's perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected university in Saudi Arabia?
 - What are ESL administrator's perceptions for why there is high attrition at the selected university in Saudi Arabia?

Research Background

- Participants Included
 - 4 Administrators
 - 4 Experienced Instructors
 - 4 Novice Instructors
- The following themes emerged from the study and will be our focus
 - Transformational Leadership
 - Recognition and awards
 - Job dissatisfaction / training

Attrition

- What do we know about attrition?
 - The need to retain experienced and qualified instructors is more challenging for leaders managing colleges in Saudi Arabia (Deputy Director)
- How has it impacted the program?
 - For the years 2014 2018 the one-year attrition rate at SGU averaged 60% (Human Resource Representative)
 - Academic administrators in the English Skills Department at SGU are not informed of the reasons as to why many ESL instructors resign from their teaching positions before their terms of appointment conclude (Academic Manager)

Day 1 Presentation

Participant Objectives

- 1. Participants will have a clear understanding of attrition and how it impacts the ESL program.
- 2. Participants will be able to describe the attributes of transformational leadership.
- 3. Participants will identify strategies that contribute to transformational leadership style.

Welcome and Greet

8:30 - 9:00

Purpose of the Workshop

9:00 - 10:00

The workshop will begin with the Dean of Academic Affairs and the Director of the English program speaking about the purpose of this workshop. The Dean of Academic Affairs will speak about attrition and how it has impacted the ESL program. I will speak about what I learned from my research and how it will be applied during the course of 3 days. I will inform participants that the overarching goal of this workshop is to create a dialogue and collaborate on strategies to reduce attrition.

Break

10:00 - 10:10

Driving Questions

10:10 - 11:30

The questions that will guide Day 1 are:

- 1. What do we know about attrition?
- 2. How does attrition impact the morale of the ESL program?
- 3. What variables have an impact on attrition?

Lunch

11:30 - 12:45

Group Work

12:45 - 1:15

Participants will break into small groups to discuss the results of the study. Each participant will have a number assigned to her at her table. Participants who have number 1 will sit together and discuss transformational leadership, participants with number 2 will discuss recognition and awards, and participants with number 3 will discuss job dissatisfaction. Each group will consist of 5-6 participants. Each group will discuss the impact of the study findings and recommend solutions.

Large Group

1:15 - 1:45

As a unified group we will report out, discuss and reflect on group discussions. The white board will be used to write down strategies and interventions proposed by each small group.

Transformational Leadership - Topic

1:45 - 2:45

As a group we are going to dive deeper into what this means to an employee and to an employer. Using the proposed interventions from group discussions and suggestions from the study findings, strategize on how implementing specific intervention affect positive change within the ESL program and reduce attrition.

End of Day Thoughts

2:45 - 3:15

Participants will be asked to reflect on what was learned for the day. Once that discussion is completed, using index cards that will be on their tables, participants will be asked to write down any questions or concerns they have for follow-up on Day 2.

Questions that Guide Day 1

- 1. What do we know about attrition?
- 2. How does attrition impact the morale of the ESL program?
- 3. What variables have an impact on attrition?

Talking Points

- Transformational Leadership What is it?
 - Administrative relationships can impact instructors' feelings of being either satisfied or dissatisfied with their positions. A positive work environment fosters relationships of trust and cooperation, resulting in more schools retaining more staff (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2014).
 - Researchers Paulsen and Martin (2014) stated that teachers believe administrators must understand and support learning processes and understand the challenges involved.

Transformational Leadership

- Now that you know more about transformational leadership
- What are your thoughts as instructors on how this has impacted attrition / job satisfaction?
- What are some strategies that you think could be integrated into the everyday culture?
- How can managers affect positive change?

Recognition and Awards

- Researchers Muguongo, Muguna and Mutiithi (2015) stated that employee expectations of compensation are that it should be fair, equitable, and that it should not only provide them with tangible rewards, but it should provide recognition.
- It is unfair at the end of the year for managers to receive acknowledgments and rewards, it's the teachers that should be recognized for the work they do.

Recognition and Awards

······

- The last statement on the previous slide, what are your thoughts?
- Do you feel that being recognized for your efforts would impact attrition or job satisfaction?
- Fisher (2015) found that recognition provides encouragement, develops job satisfaction, and improves relationships between employees and managers.
 - Do you agree with this finding? Why /Why not?

End of Day 1

- What are your thoughts about the topics we discussed today?
- Based on what you discussed in your groups, how likely is it that by implementing strategies in transformational leadership and recognition and awards that attrition can be reduced? And job satisfaction increased?
- Final thoughts?

Day 2

Participant Objective

- 1. Participants will learn about efforts made by hiring managers related to reducing attrition.
- 2. Participants will be introduced to Herzberg's two-factor theory and apply it to job satisfaction and motivation.
- 3. Participants will identify strategies that can be implemented to improve job satisfaction and motivation.

Welcome

8:30 - 9:00

Overview and Questions from Day 1

9:00 - 9:15

I will begin the day by addressing any questions or concerns from Day 1.

Efforts Made on Reducing Attrition

9:15 - 10:15

The Academic Manager from the ESL department will begin today's session speaking about on-going efforts to reduce attrition and improve job satisfaction. At the end of this presentation participants will have the opportunity to ask questions or address concerns that are related to retention and job satisfaction.

Break

10:15 - 10:30

Job Dissatisfaction

10:30 - 11:30

I will ask participants to provide examples of job dissatisfaction and how it has impacted their performance and potential retention. After they report out and we have complied a list, I will introduce Herzberg's two-factory and explain how it aligned my research.

Lunch

11:30 - 12:45

Herzberg's two Factory Theory - Deep Dive

12:45 - 1:15

Before we broke for lunch I introduced the conceptual model used to guide this study. Now we are going to take a closer look at hygiene and motivation, and how they are relevant to the organization.

Group Work

1:15 - 1:30

Participants will be asked to work in small groups to discuss hygiene factors that affect their performance. Each participant will have a number assigned to her at her table, as in day one. Participants who have number 1 will sit together and discuss long-term planning, participants with number 2 will discuss incentives, and participants with number 3 will discuss leadership. Each group will consist of 5-6 participants 1:30-1:45

Participants will continue to work in the same groups to discuss motivation and job performance / satisfaction. Group 1 will discuss training and development opportunities, group 2 will discuss recognition, and group 3 will discuss responsibility.

Brainstorm Session

1:45 - 2:45

During this time participants will convene as a large group and report out on their discussions. They will then utilize the white board and write down tangible and measureable interventions to improve job satisfaction and motivation.

End of Day Thoughts

2:45 - 3:15

We will spend the remainder of the time discussing the pros and cons of the group's interventions to come up with the top 3. At the close of the day, I will answer questions, address concerns, and provide the opportunity for participants to write down questions for follow-up on day 3.

Efforts on Reducing Attrition

- It is important for you to hear about the efforts that have been made on reducing attrition.
- The Academic Manager will speak on efforts that have been used in the past.

Job Dissatisfaction

- Maugi, Soomro, Chumro, Abidi, and Jalbani (2013), found that job satisfaction decreased due to unclear rules and policies from the university.
- How accurate is that statement? Do you think it applies to this program? If so how?
- How has this impacted attrition?
- What are some strategies that could be set in place to avoid uncertainties?

Herzberg's Motivation/Hygiene Theory

- What is Herzberg's motivation / hygiene theory?
 - Herzberg referred to factors that produce satisfaction as motivators and those that do not produce satisfaction as hygiene factors
 - Herzberg concluded that when motivators are present, employees perform better, and job satisfaction is increased. However, when motivators are absent, this leads to dissatisfaction (Herzberg, 1987)

Herzberg's Motivation/Hygiene Theory

- We spoke about job dissatisfaction and it can affect attrition
- Now we are going to discuss motivation / hygiene and its impact on attrition.
- In groups you will discuss hygiene factors that affect their performance.
 - Name some factors and describe how it has impacted your performance
 - What could be changed? How?

Herzberg's Motivation/Hygiene Theory

- In groups you will discuss discuss motivation and job performance / satisfaction.
 - Name some factors and describe how it has impacted your performance
 - What could be changed? How?
 - What are some measureable solutions to improving job satisfaction and motivation?

Day 3

Participant Objective

- 1. Participants will discuss the importance of recognition and awards and how it pertains to attrition.
- 2. Participants will collaborate on setting realistic deliverables for recognition and awards.
- Participants will collaborate on creating a faculty council and how it will be managed.
- 4. Participants will set goals for a future council meeting.

Welcome

8:30 - 9:00

Overview and Questions from Day 2

9:00 - 9:15

If there are any questions and or concerns from day 1 and 2 I will address them now.

Recognition and Awards

9:15 - 10:15

The importance of recognition and awards were discussed throughout the study. We are going to examine that at a deeper level. I am going to ask participants to use the index cards provided to write down why this is important and how they feel it impacts attrition. When we return from the break we are going to discuss and brainstorm on deliverables related to this topic.

Break

10:15 - 10:30

Brainstorm / Deliverables – Recognition and Awards

10:30 - 11:30

I am going to read what was written down on the index cards and write it on the white board. The academic manager and the dean will facilitate the discussion on how they are going to deliver and measure for recognition and awards. They will discuss setting realistic timelines for accountability with your input.

Lunch

11:30 -12:45

Where do we go from here?

12:45 - 1:15

The dean and academic manager will discuss creating a faculty council and how they see that being managed, how often they will meet as well as the goals and objectives of the council.

$$1:15 - 2:00$$

The academic manager will speak about creating opportunistic professional development opportunities and will use the information shared through this workshop to facilitate it being successful. This will be included in the summer planning in order for instructors to have an academic calendar.

Data Drives Success

2:00-2:45

This time will be spent on discussing the importance of compiling data in order to measure and show success. Managers and instructors will work collaboratively to formulate a plan on measuring success on relationship management, job satisfaction, and awards and recognition. Managers will set and communicate deliverables with council members at the beginning, mid-year and end of the academic year.

End of day thoughts

2:45 - 3:15

This concludes our professional development. I want everyone to take a moment and reflect on the past 3 days and I would like to inquire as to where do you see yourself fitting into the organizational structure in the next year?

Recognition and Awards – Deep Dive

- The importance of recognition and awards was discussed on day one. Using this time we are going to examine that at a deeper level.
- White (2015) noted that ineffective recognition and award strategies cause a decline in employee commitment, job satisfaction, and trust
- What are some strategies that have been used and have been unsuccessful?

Recognition and Awards - Deep Dive

- Why is being recognized important?
- Does it matter who the recognition is coming from?
 - If yes? Why?
- Ertuk (2014) claimed that managers who provide fair rewards to employees for performance are better equipped to retain employees
 - How accurate is this statement when thinking about the culture of this program?

Deliverables – Recognition and Awards

- What needs to change?
- How should be accountable for this?
- How frequent does this happen?
- What does this look like?

Where do We Go From Here?

- We have spent 2 days discussing topics that relate to attrition.
- What are next steps?
- Is creating a faculty council the right approach in keeping communication transparent?
 - What will be the goals and objectives of that council?
 - Who will participate in the council?
- How will professional development workshops be improved?
- Will there be adequate time allotted for workshops based on teachers needs?

Data Drives Success

- Managers and instructors will work collaboratively to formulate a plan on measuring success on transformational leadership, job satisfaction, and awards and recognition.
 - What does this look like?
 - * Who will be held accountable for this?
- Managers will set and communicate deliverables with council members at the beginning and end of the academic year

Assessment for Day 1 and Day 2

Directions: Please circle your response to the questions provided be	low.
1=Strongly Disagree	
3=Neither Agree or Disagree	
5=Strongly Agree	
1. The goals of the day, mentioned at the beginning of the day were	met. 1 2 3 4 5 N/A
2. The facilitator had expert knowledge and was prepared.	1 2 3 4 5 N/A
3. The content presented was relevant and useful.	1 2 3 4 5 N/A
4. The facilitator provided adequate time for discussion and created encouraged discussion.	an environment that 1 2 3 4 5 N/A
5. The facilitator stimulated my interest in the subject.	1 2 3 4 5 N/A
6. What did you take away from this workshop?	
7. What are some areas of improvement for tomorrow?	

Final Assessment for Participants

Directions: Please circle your response to the questions provided below.	
1=Strongly Disagree	
3=Neither Agree or Disagree	
5=Strongly Agree	
1. The PD Workshop helped me understand retention as it applies to ESL instructor attrition. 12345N/A	
2. The PD Workshop helped me understand the various strategies for improving retention. 12345N/A	
3.The PD Workshop helped me understand how to integrate strategies for retention into my job effectively. 12345N/A	
4. The information I learned in this PD Workshop I will use often. 12345N/A	
5.The PD Workshop helped aid in building a collaborative relationship with my colleagues. 12345N/A	
Final Comments or Thoughts:	
What were the primary strengths of the 3-day workshop?	
What were areas for improvement for the 3-day workshop?	

Protocol:

I will greet the research participant and thank her for her time. I will explain that the interview will be tape-recorded and that the participant will have the opportunity to review and make any changes desired to the transcript after it has been transcribed to ensure accuracy of statements.

Introductory Comments: Hello, thank you for agreeing to meet with me today. I am interested in learning more about your experiences during your teaching / administrative career here at SGU. I am going to use the information from your interview, and the interviews I have with other teachers to complete my dissertation at Walden University. All the information in this interview will be confidential. I will not use your name in my report. I will not share what we discuss with anyone. It is my hope that by interviewing participants like you we can learn more about retention. Thank you for your help.

Tape Recording Conversation: I am going to tape record our conversation. It will help me while we talk because I might have difficulty writing down exactly what you are telling me and I want to make sure I remember all of our conversation. No other person will listen to the tape recording. I will be the only person who is transcribing it. Do you have any questions before we begin?

Appendix C: Research Questions

1. What promotes your level of satisfaction with your job?

Prompt: Explain what a good day of work is like.

2. What are some of the challenges that decrease your job satisfaction?

Prompt: Explain what a challenging day of work is like.

- 3. How likely are you to be still employed at SGU 2 years from now?
- 4. What factors contribute to you staying at SGU?

Prompt: What factors contribute to you contemplating not staying at SGU?

Prompt: What would you look for in another job that you don't experience/have at SGU?

5. How would describe the culture in the English program?

Prompt: Do you feel culturally included at SGU?

6. Do you feel part of a family at SGU?

Prompt: Tell me how you socialize with co-workers in and out of the SGU setting.

7. What type of leadership practices do you believe are significant in retaining ESL instructors?

Prompt: Do you feel supported by your leaders?

- 8. How is retaining and motivating instructors prioritized in the English department?
- 9. What type of values and attitudes contribute to job satisfaction and retention?

 Prompt: Do you feel your voice is heard at SGU?
- 10. What are some of the things that SGU could do to improve teacher attrition?

Appendix D – Letter to University

Princess NourahBint Abdulrahman University

Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

To: Vice Rector of Graduate Studies and Scientific Research:

This is letter is to inform you that I, Salisha Bhola, a doctoral student in Higher Education

Leadership at Walden University, will be gathering data for research entitled Faculty and

Administrator Perceptions of ESL Teachers in Saudi Arabia. My study will explore the

problem of ESL teacher attrition from the perspectives of both novice and experienced

teachers, as well as from the administrators from one school. Decreasing the attrition rate

of qualified ESL instructors will affect positive change by improving student outcomes

through consistent and trusting student-teacher relationships at SGU. The results from

this study will provide stakeholders of the ESL program with a better understanding of

factors that may reduce attrition of ESL instructors, increase ESL instructor retention and

ultimately lead to improved learning outcomes for ESL students.

I am aware of the ethical and confidential issues that are integral to conducting research.

My committee member and chair of my project will guide me in data collection to ensure

it is performed in the ethical and professional manner.

Thank you for approving your institution as my venue to collect and conduct my

research.

Dear,

You are invited to take part in a research study regarding faculty and administration perception of ESL instructors in the English program. You were selected as a possible participant due to your working experience as an ESL instructor or manager at SGU. Please read this form and ask any questions you have before acting on this invitation to be in the study.

Salisha Bhola, a doctoral candidate at Walden University, is conducting this study.

Background Information:

The purpose of this study is to explore issues that relate to attrition and retention of ESL instructors and learn more about aspects that may improve the retention of ESL instructors at the research site.

Procedures:

If you agree to take part in this study, you will only be asked to take part in a SKYPE interview. After the interview has been transcribed you will receive a copy to review, to ensure that your comments are accurate and have not been misrepresented.

Voluntary Nature of the Study:

Your participation in this study is strictly voluntary. Your decision whether to participate in the study will not affect your current or future relations with any institutions or agencies you may be involved with. If you initially decide to participate, you are free to withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

Risks and Benefits of Being in the Study:

There are no risks associated with participating in this study. Your participation will add to the body of research in the area of ESL retention. In addition, it is expected that the results will assist in identifying strategies to retain teachers.

Compensation:

There will be no compensation for your participation in this study.

Confidentiality:

Any information you provide will be kept anonymous. The researcher will not use your information for any purposes outside of this research project. No identifying information will be collected about the participants. The emails of the participants will not be linked to any responses; thus, confidentiality is protected.

Contacts and Questions:

The researcher conducting this study is Salisha Bhola. The researcher's faculty advisor is Dr. Stacy E Wahl. You may ask any questions you have now. Or if you have questions later, you may contact me by e-mail (Salisha.bhola@waldenu.edu) or by phone (xxx) xxx- xxxx.

**Please keep a copy of this document.

Obtaining Your Consent

If you feel you understand the study well enough to decide whether to participate, please indicate your consent by signing below.

Printed Name of Participant	
Date of consent	
Participant's Signature	
Researcher's Signature	

Appendix F – Interview Guide (Faculty)

Date

Time

Thank you for participating in the interview. The purpose of this interview is to explore issues that contributed to your decision to work at SGU. Your participation in this study is voluntary. You may stop at any time during the interview if you feel stressed. There is no compensation for participating in this interview. Any information you provide will remain confidential. Any information you provide will not be used for any purpose outside this study. I will not include your name or any information that can identify you in my study. The interview will last for 1 hour and will be audio recorded and later transcribed. Do you have any questions?

Thank you for participating in this interview. I will send you a transcribed copy of this interview for you to review once it is completed

Appendix G: Interview guide (Administrators)

Date

Time

Thank you for participating in the interview. The purpose of this interview is to explore issues that contributed to your decision to work at SGU. Your participation in this study is voluntary. You may stop at any time during the interview if you feel stressed. There is no compensation for participating in this interview. Any information you provide will remain confidential. Any information you provide will not be used for any purpose outside this study. I will not include your name or any information that can identify you in my reports on the interview. The interview will last for 1 hour and will be audio recorded and later transcribed. Do you have any questions?

Thank you for participating in this interview. I will send you a transcribed copy of this interview for you to review once it is completed

Appendix H: Interview guide (Novice)

Date

Time

Thank you for participating in the interview. The purpose of this interview is to explore issues that contributed to your decision to resign from SGU. Your participation in this study is voluntary. You may stop at any time during the interview if you feel stressed. There is no compensation for participating in this interview. Any information you provide will remain confidential. Any information you provide will not be used for any purpose outside this study. I will not include your name or any information that can identify you in my reports on the interview. The interview will last for 1 hour and will be audio recorded and later transcribed. Do you have any questions?

Thank you for participating in this interview. I will send you a transcribed copy of this interview for you to review once it is complete.